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Glossary of terms

AFS   Annual Financial Statements

APP   Annual Performance Plan

ASB   Accounting Standards Board

CCMA  Commission for Conciliation, 

  Mediation and Arbitration

CEO  Chief Executive Officer

COO  Chief Operations Officer

DBE  Department of Basic Education

DoT  Department of Transport

DPSA   Department of Public Service Administration

EAP  Employee Assistance Programme

EECF  Employment Equity Consultative Forum

ERM  Enterprise-Wide Risk Management

FY  Financial Year

GOE  Guides to Operational Excellence

GRAP  Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

IAA   Internal Audit Activity

ICT   Information Communication Technology

IIMS  Integrated Information Management System

KPI  Key Performance Indicator

MQS  Management Quality System

MTSF  Medium-Term Strategic Framework

NATMAP National Transport Master Plan 

NDP  National Development Plan

NIMS  National Information Monitoring System

NIOH   National Institute of Occupational Health

PFMA  Public Finance Management Act

PRASA  Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa

RIA  Regulatory Impact Assessment

RSR  Railway Safety Regulator

SABPP  South African Board of People Practices

SADC  The Southern Africa Development Community

SANS  South African National Standard

SDIX  Service Delivery Index

SMS  Safety Management System

SSP  Sector Skills Plan

TCO  Train Control Officer 

TETA  Transport, Education and Training Authority

TFR  Transnet Freight Rail

TOR  Terms of Reference

VSP  Voluntary Severance Package 
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Definitions

CMS  Competency Management System is the ability to undertake responsibilities and to perform activities to a 
recognised standard on a regular basis. CMS is a combination of practical and thinking skills, experience and 
knowledge and may include a willingness to undertake work activities in accordance with agreed standards, rules 
and procedures.

CSM-CA Common Safety Method for Conformity Assessment is applied by railway safety inspectors in the assessment 
of the adequacy of an operator’s Safety Management System. It is also used by the operator to ensure that their 
application conforms to the minimum requirements of the RSR.

CSM-RA Common Safety Method for Risk Assessment provides a harmonised framework for the risk assessment process 
through the prescription of hazard identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. This CSM sets a broad framework 
for the use of risk assessment methodologies to assess changes to the railway system. 

RM3 Railway Management Maturity Model is a tool for assessing and managing a railway operator’s ability to control 
safety risks, to help identify areas for improvement and provide a benchmark for year-on-year comparison. The RM3 
assists in guiding the rail operator towards excellence in safety risk management. 

SMS Safety Management System is a formal framework for integrating safety into day-to-day railway operations 
and includes safety goals and performance targets, risk assessment, responsibilities and authorities, rules and 
procedures, monitoring and evaluation processes and any matter as prescribed.

SRM Safety Risk Model consists of a series of fault-tree and event-tree models representing many hazardous events that 
collectively define the overall level of risk on the railway. It provides a structured representation of the causes and 
consequences of potential accidents arising from railway operations and maintenance.

 Note: At the core of a safety permit lies the Safety Management System of an operator. All the above-mentioned acronyms 
(CSM-CA; CSM-RA; RM3) deal with ensuring that an operator’s SMS is robust enough to mitigate against risks 
arising from railway operations, which will ensure continuous safety improvement and the achievement of excellence 
in railway operations.

 The SRM will provide the RSR and the industry with a holistic view of the industry’s collective and individual risks and 
will serve as a decision-making tool for both the RSR and the operator for risk control measures to be implemented.
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It gives me great pride to announce that despite the challenges 
faced by the Regulator, the organisation managed to achieve all 
the targets set for the period under review, thereby, building a solid 
foundation for regulating rail safety in South Africa. 

Allow me to conclude by acknowledging and expressing my 
appreciation for the support received from the Department 
of Transport, fellow members of the Board, the Acting Chief 
Executive Officer and her Executive Management Team, as well 
as staff members, for their collective contribution towards ensuring 
that the RSR discharges its mandate effectively.

_________________________________________
Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta
CHAIRPERSON:  RSR BOARD

Foreword by the  
Board Chairperson
It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report of the Railway 
Safety Regulator. It has been a year focused on bringing financial 
stability to the Regulator and ensuring it is able to survive in a 
tough economic climate. This Report is testament of the hard work 
by the Board, the Executive Management and the employees of 
the RSR and the support of the Department of Transport. 

The Board has made major strides in ensuring that the financial 
health of the Regulator is restored. All the interventions adopted 
in the 2018/19 FY have been achieved. While the focus of the 
organisation was predominantly on interventions to restore its 
sustainability and well-being, the organisation recorded several 
achievements that are commendable. I would like to pay tribute 
to a few because of their importance in reducing the number of 
railway occurrences.

The final Safety Management System (SMS) and Safety 
Management System Report (SMSR) Determination was 
published on 18 May 2018 through a government gazette; this 
established the legal requirements for the SMS and SMSR. An 
updated Safety Permit Application Guide aligned to the SMS and 
SMSR Determination was also communicated to the operators 
by the RSR. The Guide includes a Safety Permit Conformity 
Assessment Methodology (SPCAM) tool that explains the 
requirements contained in the Determination and must be used 
by operators to demonstrate compliance with the requirements 
contained in the Determination. This is a major accomplishment 
for the Regulator.

Based on occurrences in the rail industry over the past year, it is 
clear that the communication of safety critical messages between 
safety critical grades is not standardised within organisations or 
across the industry, which increase interoperability risks between 
different operators. 

It is for this reason that the RSR embarked on a process to 
develop a verbal safety-critical communication protocol for 
railway operations. The protocol will clarify what verbal safety-
critical communication is; provide the procedure for using it and 
ensure safe and seamless railway operations.  The Determination 
on Verbal Safety Critical Communication will be used as a tool 
to mitigate the risks associated with verbal communication in 
the railway operations in South Africa and will be published as a 
regulatory tool by 31 March 2020.
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Chief Executive Officer’s report

A big thank you goes to the Department of Transport, the Board 
of Directors of the Regulator, the Executive Management and all 
the employees of the RSR.  Without your cooperation, dedication, 
patience and resilience, the achievements highlighted in this 
report would not be possible.

__________________________________
Ms Tshepo Kgare
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The 2018/19 FY has been a turbulent year for the railway 
industry. Equally, the RSR was confronted with its own 
set of challenges. Not only has the RSR undergone major 
restructuring, including an overhaul of its business model, 
to strengthen the organisation’s regional operations by 
focusing on core functions, it also had to make some 
tough and unpopular decisions to ensure that operators 
put safety at the centre of their rail operations.

This Annual Report, therefore, speaks to the resilience 
and commitment of the Regulator to achieve its mandate 
against all odds.  During the year under review, the Board 
of the RSR approved a Financial Recovery Plan, which 
outlined various measures aimed at ensuring a more 
efficient, productive and sustainable organisation. The 
RSR implemented the plan knowing fully well that it would 
be an arduous task.  With the assistance and commitment 
of employees, the Board and the shareholder, a new 
course was chartered for the RSR.

Among the measures adopted in the Financial Recovery 
Plan were the revision of the organisational structure, 
introduction of voluntary severance packages, non-
renewal of fixed-term contracts and the cancellation of 
irregular contracts.

A process to redesign the organisational structure 
was embarked on; and after an exhaustive process of 
consultation, the Board approved the structure that was 
communicated to all staff on 19 December 2018. 

Change is not easy, and this process was no different. It 
was crucial that the RSR set itself up for the future.  The 
steps that the RSR has taken thus far did exactly that, 
and now the organisation needs to gear itself to creating 
a new culture underpinned by integrity and strong ethical 
values.

It gives me great pleasure to report that the RSR has 
achieved 100 per cent of its Annual Performance 
Plan targets, despite the instability as a result of the 
restructuring process.  I am happy to conclude the year 
knowing that the process has been completed and that 
the organisation can now solely focus on its commitment 
to improving railway safety.
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___________________________
Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta
CHAIRPERSON:  RSR BOARD

Statement of responsibility
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm the following:

1. All the information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are consistent with the Annual 
Financial Statements audited by the Auditor General.

2. The Annual Report is complete, accurate and is free from any material omissions.

3. The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the annual report 
as issued by the National Treasury.

4. The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards 
applicable to the public entity.

5. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements 
and for the judgements made in this information.

6. The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal 
control that has been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the integrity and 
reliability of the performance information, the human resources information and the Annual 
Financial Statements.

7. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial 
Statements.

8. In our opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the operations, performance information, 
human resources information and the financial affairs of the entity for the financial year ended 
31 March 2019.

Yours faithfully

________________________________
Ms Tshepo Kgare
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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        Strategic overview

Our rail safety assurance vision
Zero Occurrences.

Mission statement
To oversee and promote safe railway operations through appropriate support, monitoring and enforcement, guided by an 
enabling regulatory framework.

Values
The core values of the RSR are:

Integrity and Trust We will instil confidence (that is, belief, trust and faith) in our internal and external 
stakeholders through quality, professional and efficient service delivery. 

Transparency We will openly communicate information.

Fairness and Equity We will ensure that we are consistent in applying policies and procedures and that we are 
impartial in treating all our stakeholders by ensuring that we communicate effectively to all 
our stakeholders.

Innovation We will create a conducive environment that allows for the sharing and implementation of 
new ideas in line with the goals of the RSR.

Speed of execution We will make prompt decisions and take appropriate action informed by organisational 
priorities.

Respect and 
Diversity

We recognise and acknowledge that the RSR is a non-racial equal opportunity employer 
with a multinational, multi-ethnic, multi-skilled and multi-cultural people.  In doing so, we 
remain proud of our heritage while being consciously aware of our collective diversity and 
cultures.  We, therefore, engage with and treat each other, our customers, as well as our 
work, with dignity and respect.
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Legislative and other 
mandates
Our regulatory principles

•	 Our focus is on the safety of people and protecting the 
environment and property from damage.

•	 We are committed to improving the safety of rail 
transport and ensuring that it is comparable with other 
leading countries.

•	 We ensure that all those involved in the provision of 
rail transport take responsibility for safety.  Our safety 
oversight activities are organised with this objective in 
mind.

•	 We ensure that rail safety regulations and standards 
are relevant and effective.

•	 We assess the safety factors and risk controls involved 
in the technology audit process and in our monitoring 
of the operational phase by conducting audits and 
inspections.

•	 We accept risks only when, to the best of our 
knowledge, these risks are acceptable and cannot be 
reduced further by taking reasonable measures.  Where 
conflicting interests exist, safety will be prioritised.

•	 We actively communicate and promote railway safety, 
and encourage the collaboration and participation of 
interested and affected persons in improving railway 
safety.

•	 We cooperate with all stakeholders that have a role to 
play in rail safety.

•	 We support conditions and decisions that allow the 

financial resources for safety measures to be used as 
effectively and economically as possible.

Our railway safety functions are driven by legislation.  We 
are accountable to Parliament and the public to:

•	 Protect the people who use, interact or work on 
the railway and to ensure that rail operations do not 
contribute to environmental degradation.  This work is 
fundamental in ensuring continuous improvements in 
railway safety; and

•	 Protect the interests of future rail users by working with 
the industry and funders in the development of future 
railway networks and services.

Legislative Mandate 

The RSR was established in terms of the National Railway 
Safety Regulator Act No. 16 of 2002 (“the Act”) as amended, 
to establish a national regulatory framework for South Africa 
and to monitor and enforce compliance in the rail sector. 
The primary legislative mandate of the RSR is to oversee 
and enforce safety performance by all railway operators in 
South Africa, including those of neighbouring States whose 
rail operations enter South Africa.  In terms of the Act, all 
operators are primarily responsible and accountable for 
ensuring the safety of their railway operations.

Other Legislative Mandates

The RSR is a statutory organisation and primarily derives 
its mandate from its constitutive legislation, the National 
Railway Safety Regulator Act No 16 of 2002 (as amended). 
In addition, the RSR must comply with legislative prescripts 
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that have an impact on RSR’s business or operations, including but not limited to the: 

•	 Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA),1993 (Act No 85, 1993); (as amended)
•	 Legal Succession to the South African Transport Services Act,1989 (Act No 9, 1989) (as amended); 
•	 Public Finance Management Act,1999 (Act No 1, 1999) (as amended); 
•	 National Environmental Management Act, 1988 (Act 107, 1988); 
•	 National Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act 57, 2002); 
•	 Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000 (Act 2, 2000);

•	 Various labour legislation, including the Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act 66, 1995); Basic Conditions of 
Employment Act, 1997 (Act 75, 1997); Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act 97, 1998); Employment Equity Act, 
1998 (Act 55, 1998);

•	 Protected Disclosures Act, 2000 (Act 26, 2000); and 

•	 Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, 2000 (Act 3, 2000)

Policy Mandate

The RSR as a state entity is governed and directed by various policies developed and approved by the South African 
Government at varying spheres. The following are some of the policy mandates which guide the work of the RSR:

•	 The National Development Plan (NDP); 

•	 The National Transport Master Plan (NATMAP); 

•	 The Draft National Rail Transport Policy White Paper; 

•	 The New Growth Path Framework; 

•	 Various national and international policies within the railway sector; and 

•	 The National Government’s Strategic Outcome.

Office of the Presidency:  Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF)
The MTSF is defined as a statement of intent identifying the development challenges facing South Africa. It also outlines 
the medium-term strategy for improving living conditions and contributions to economic growth and prosperity. South 
Africa requires investment into an effective network of economic infrastructures aimed at supporting the country’s 
medium- and long-term economic and social objectives. This economic infrastructure is a precondition for providing 
basic services such as electricity, water, sanitation, telecommunications and public transport, and it needs to be 
robust and extensive enough to meet industrial, commercial and household needs. 
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As expressed in our Vision and Mission Statement, the RSR is committed to contributing towards the country’s 
medium- and long-term socio-economic objectives, with a specific focus on MTSF Outcome 6: An efficient, 
competitive and responsive economic infrastructure network. Therefore, the RSR’s strategic intent aims to 
ensure that the upgrading and expansion of our rail network and fleet contribute to the country’s:  

•	 Improved safety management practices and accountability by all industry stakeholders; 

•	 Sector-wide compliance with railway safety regulations and standards;

•	 Constructive engagements with industry and funders to encourage investments in safer and user-friendly 
rail technologies;

•	 Safe railway behaviour of those directly interacting with our railways (operators, commuters, pedestrians 
and motorists); and

•	 Improved customer service. 

Department of Transport Strategic Outcome-Oriented Goals

In terms of the Department of Transport’s (DoT) Strategic Outcome-Oriented Goal 1, which aims to ensure an 
efficient and integrated infrastructure network that serves as a catalyst for social and economic development, 
the RSR will align its strategic goals and objectives to ensure that all rail industry activities are completed with 
safety as the main consideration.
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OUR LEADERS
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PART B:   
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
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Introduction

In line with international best practices, the RSR must guide 
the railway industry towards excellence in railway safety 
management to reduce the operational risks in the railway 
environment to as low as reasonably practical (ALARP).  
Although the goals and targets are aimed at reducing external 
risks, the previous APP was internally focused as it set out the 
work plan for the RSR and its Inspectorate.

One of the reasons why the RSR was unable to accurately and 
empirically measure risk reduction in the railway environment 
was the overall absence of an Integrated Information 
Management System (IIMS) to inform the RSR of the residual 
risk. The RSR has used lagging indicators as an instrument 
to guide it in setting the strategic goals and targets to identify 
the risks in the railway industry. As such, the RSR became 
over-reliant on the results of historic occurrence safety data 
and trend analysis as published in the annual State of Safety 
Report to set strategic goals.

The use of lagging indicators in isolation, did not provide 
insight into the underlying causes (risks) of operational 
occurrences. At most, it only addressed the immediate causes 
and identified the tip of the iceberg. The underlying causes 
of railway occurrences must be identified and addressed to 
ensure risks are ALARP.

As stated, the RSR did not have an IIMS in place that could 
empirically inform the RSR of the risk profile of the industry. 
The current National Information Management System (NIMS) 
comprises the following modules which are also not integrated 
and cannot be used in a predictive manner.  These are:

•	 Permit Module

•	 Occurrence Management Module

•	 Audit and Inspection Module

•	 Asset Management Module

Due to the non-integrative approach taken in putting into place 
the various NIMS Modules, the RSR was unable to formulate a 
holistic risk profile for the railway industry. The loss of valuable 
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compliance data (audits, inspections and enforcement 
actions) gathered over many years added to the inability of 
the RSR to fully comprehend the risk profile of the industry. 
Therefore, the RSR could not empirically determine the 
benefits of the compliance and enforcement activities 
undertaken from 2005 – 2017 as well as the reduction in 
risk over the same period.

The RSR, therefore, included a mix of long- and short-
term deterministic tools in the target setting process in the 
2018/19 APP to drive identified risks to ALARP.

The methodology of “closing directives” used in previous 
APP’s was not an effective method of measurement of the 
reduction of risk. At best, it provided for an indicator of the 
completeness of the compliance actions taken, but not the 
effectiveness of the compliance effort.

Furthermore, industry collaboration that resulted in shared 
costs and shared human intelligence and competencies in 
complex projects was encouraged. 

The short-term objectives that the RSR focused on were to:

•	 Establish a common platform for regular engagement 
between the RSR and high-risk operators to agree on 
minimum safety objectives to be achieved by individual 
operators;

•	 The roll-out of a Human Factors management 
programme to all railway operators designed to:

– Standardise Competency Management Systems 
(CSM) in place with all operators;

– Determine acceptable vacancy rates within 
safety-critical grades;

– Ensure effective workload planning for staff 
involved with safety critical work; and

– Safe systems of work.

•	 Establish an Industry Workgroup on Interoperability 
and Interface Management;

•	 Develop and implement a Determination for Verbal 
Safety Critical Communications;

•	 Establish an RSR initiative on operator record keeping 
and document control;

•	 Establish an industry stakeholder interest group on 
infrastructure and rolling stock;

•	 Implement a platform for regular engagement with 
organised labour; and

•	 Promote safe railway behaviour.

The Medium- to Long term objectives that the RSR will 
focus on in achieving ALARP is to:

•	 Enhance the Safety Management System (SMS) by 
developing and implementing the:

– Determination for a Common Safety Method for 
Conformity Assessment (CSM CA);

– Common Method for Risk Assessment (CSM RA); 
and

– Common Method of Supervision. 

•	 Introduce and phase-in Operational Excellence with 
the major operators through Railway Management 
Maturity Model (RM3);

•	 Develop and implement an IIMS which can empirically 
inform the RSR of the risk profile of the industry;

•	 Develop and implement a Safety Risk Model (SRM) 
representative of the overall risk estimate of the 
railway industry to support critical decision making.
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     Situational analysis

Service delivery environment
The National Development Plan 2030 (NDP) and the National Transport Master Plan 2050 (NATMAP) recognised the 
need for South Africa to maintain and expand its transport infrastructure to continue supporting its economic growth 
and social development goals.  NATMAP further states that rail is an essential long-term component of both freight and 
passenger transport networks in the country.  The government has over the years continued to show commitment to 
implementing the promises made in the NDP and NATMAP.  Part of these was the refurbishment and revitalisation of rail 
infrastructure and rolling stock and improving rail safety, thereby improving the rail service for all who use it.  The RSR, 
therefore, played a pivotal role in ensuring that safety remained the bedrock of the South African railway operations and 
worked closely with the relevant stakeholders to provide knowledge and experience to mitigate the risks resulting from 
the introduction of new technologies into the rail system. Data and evidence drive decisions therefore, it was imperative 
that clear processes and governance tools be developed to set out how work was delivered.

Outcome 1, safer railways, this focused on developing and implementing these governance tools to achieve ALARP.  
These are: 

•	 Ensuring that high-risk railway operators meet or exceed their safety objectives;

•	 Industry safety risk profiling towards increased critical risk mitigation decisions;

•	 Industry consulted risk assessment tools and methodologies;

•	 Development of a Human Factors Management capacity building programme;

•	 Development and implementation of the Verbal Safety Critical Communications Determination; and

•	 Development of the Interface Agreement Framework.
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Risk-based approach
The risk-based approach is reliant on the development 
of several fundamental elements.  During the year under 
review, the RSR focused on developing the elements 
below, which proved to be a resource-intensive process. 
The RSR has made great strides and was successful 
in the achievement of these, especially considering the 
organisational restructuring.  These elements are:
•	 Safety Risk Model seeks to provide a structured 

representation of the causes and consequences of 
potential accidents arising from railway operations and 
maintenance to allow for the determination of a risk 
profile of operators for focused mitigation activities and 
controls.

•	 Determination for Occurrence Reporting seeks to 
assist the RSR from reporting only lagging indicators 
but to include leading indicators which are crucial for 
risk determination/profiling.

•	 Common Safety Method for Conformity 
Assessments seeks to provide clear requirements 
for Safety Permit applications using Common Safety 
Methods for Conformity Assessments.  This method 
will be applied by Railway Safety Inspectors in the 
assessment of the adequacy of an operator’s Safety 
Management System.  It will also enable operators to 
ensure that their application conforms to the minimum 
requirements of the RSR.

•	 Common Safety Method for Risk Assessment 
framework seeks to provide a harmonised framework 
for the risk assessment process through the  
prescription of hazard identification, risk analysis 
and risk evaluation.  The CSM RA serves as a broad 
framework for the use of risk assessment methodologies 
to assess changes to the railway system.

•	 Railway Management Maturity Model seeks to 
provide a tool for assessing and managing a railway 
operator’s ability to control safety risks, to help identify 
areas for improvement and provide a benchmark for 
year-on-year comparison.  It will also enable the rail 
operator towards increased excellence in safety risk 
management.

•	 Human Factors Management Capacity Building 
Program seeks to provide a program that will ensure 
the delivery of a significant reduction in the Human 
Factor risk element currently prevalent within the 
railway industry.  
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It will focus on all high-risk railway operators to:

– Standardise Competency Management Systems (CSM) in place with all operators;

– Determine acceptable vacancy rates within safety critical/related grades;

– Ensure effective workload planning for staff involved with safety critical work;

– Safe systems of work;

– Assist operators to conform to competency standards and agreed workload load planning by 31 March 2021.

•	 Verbal Safety Critical Communication Protocol seeks to correct communications protocols to be observed between 
safety critical staff during train authorisations and protocols which will reduce the risk of SPADS and collision that 
requires industry-wide support.

•	 Interface Agreement Framework seeks to mitigate risks of occurrences associated with interoperability between 
operators on the common network at the interface of railway operations.
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Organisational environment
During the 2018/19 FY, the RSR Board approved a financial recovery plan that seeks to identify the challenges faced by the 
organisation because of a bloated structure, the number of regional offices and various goods and services costs. The plan 
outlined how to address the challenge over the short, medium- and long-term. In addition, specific interventions required from 
the National Department of Transport were also listed to separate actions within and outside of the control of the RSR.  A major 
element in the plan was that the 2018/19 budget had to immediately stabilise the RSR’s finances and lay the foundation for the 
recovery over the medium- to long term.   

As at April 2018       As at March 2019

                  

                                    

       

      As at April 2018                            As at March 2019 

        196 Employees              160 Employees

        As at April 2018        As at March 2019
             

                   28 vehicles                      11 vehicles

 Eastern Region

Head Office and Central Region

Cape Region

Head Office and Gauteng

Western Cape

Eastern Cape

KwaZulu Natal

Mpumalanga

 



Railway Safety Regulator Annual Report  2018/19

26 

The cost reduction interventions as stated in the Financial Recovery Plan and the progress on these 
are as follows:

Technology Review revenue budget 
reduced by 50 per cent.

Reduction of variable revenue,  
e.g. Business Development.

Reduction in goods and services.

Cost of Employment significantly reduced
•					No performance bonus paid in the 2018/19 FY;
•	 No salary increases effected in the 2018/19 FY for the D4, 

D5, E and F levels;
•	 Non-renewal of contracts;
•	 VSP taken by 19 staff members; and
•	 Revision of the organisational structure.

Vehicle fleet reduced from 28 to 11 
vehicles in order to reduce vehicle 

lease costs.

Full Facilities Management lease 
contract cancelled, resulting in 

reduced lease operating expenses.
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While the cost reduction activities were in progress, the 
organisation recorded several achievements that are 
commendable.  These are:

Safety Management System Determination

A railway Safety Management System (SMS) is a formal 
framework for integrating safety into day-to-day railway 
operations and includes safety goals and performance 
targets, risk assessment responsibilities and authorities, 
rules and procedures, monitoring and evaluation processes 
etc. The overall purpose of the SMS is to ensure that railway 
organisations achieve their business objectives in a safe 
manner.

The draft SMS and SMSR Determination was published for 
public comments in 2017, while at the same time being piloted 
with some identified  operators. 

The Social Economic Impact Assessment System (SEIAS) 
of the Determination was approved in January 2018. The 
final SMS and SMSR Determination was published on 18 
May 2018 through a government gazette; this established 
the legal requirements for the SMS and SMSR. The RSR 
also communicated an updated Safety Permit Application 
Guide, aligned to the SMS and SMSR Determination, to the 
operators. The Guide includes a Safety Permit Conformity 
Assessment Methodology (SPCAM) tool that explains the 
requirements contained in the Determination and must 
be used by operators to demonstrate compliance with the 
requirements contained in the Determination. 

Verbal Safety Critical Communication Protocol

Over the years, the railway industry in South Africa has seen 
itself conducting operational activities including operational 
communication under abnormal and degraded modes of 
working. The failure of communications systems especially 
the signalling system has resulted in reliance on manual 
authorisation of trains. This has been proven to contribute to 

numerous railway occurrences, including collisions, signals 
passed at danger (SPADS) and derailments. 

It was also found that the communication of safety critical 
messages between safety critical grades is not standardised 
within organisations or across the industry, which increases 
interoperability risks between different operators. Various 
sections of the SMS determination and other regulatory tools 
require the operators to establish processes and procedures 
for effective communication systems. Despite the various 
regulatory tools used by the RSR, the industry continues to 
face occurrences attributable to the failure of Verbal Safety 
Critical Communication (VSCC).

It is for this reason that the RSR embarked on a process 
to develop and implement a protocol which will provide a 
communication framework for effective VSCC in railway 
operations. The protocol will clarify what safety-critical 
communication is, provide the procedure for using it and  
ensure safe and seamless railway operations. It will also be 
used as a tool or control to mitigate risks associated with 
verbal communication and ensure a standardised approach 
to VSCC within the railway operations in South Africa

To develop this tool, the RSR established an internal working 
group to do background work and a literature review on the 
subject. An Industry Working Group (IWG) committee was 
then established by industry representatives. Having drafted 
the terms of reference, the working group held workshops 
where inputs were provided for the drafting of the VSCC. 

In January 2019, the IWG conducted several observation 
exercises at PRASA’s Pretoria North CTC and the TFR 
Sentrarand depot. The inputs from this exercise were 
incorporated into the final draft VSCC protocol, which 
was published in the Gazette for public comments on 29 
March 2019. The Determination on Verbal Safety Critical 
Communication will be published as a regulatory tool by 31 
March 2020.
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Human Factor Management Capacity Building
Programme

During safety management system audits and occurrence 
investigations, a lack of industry  accepted human 
factors management frameworks for the management of 
competencies, vacancies and effective workload planning 
were identified and management were identified as 
deficiencies investigations.  A human factors management 
capacity building document has been developed primarily 
with the view of providing South African railway operators 
with the frameworks to address the identified deficiencies. 
The capacity building document consists of competence 
management, vacancy management, and workload 
planning and management frameworks. 

The requirement by the RSR is to ensure effective and 
consistent management of competence for individuals 
and teams performing safety-related work. The RSR’s 
SMS Determination emphasises that the operators’ 
organisational structure should be appropriate to deliver 
the safety policy and safety approach so that resources 
are effectively allocated. All rail operators should have 
the minimum requirements in place adequately address 
human factors within their environment for optimum safe 
operational performance. 

Competence management within the South African 
railway industry is a complex process due to differences 
in organisational requirements. Human resource research 
has identified the difficulty with the establishment and 
maintenance of competence because there is no one 
single definition for competence. In the railway industry, 
the complexity for competence management is also 
attributed to the fact that the focus in the operations is on 
the human aspect which includes the ability to undertake 
responsibilities and perform activities to a recognised 
standard on a regular basis. Competence management 
systems can be simplified by understanding precisely the 
context in which the work is conducted, the environment in 
which the activity is performed and the working culture of 
the operator. 
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The vacancy management framework provides guidance on 
determining acceptable workforce requirements for safety-
related employees by determining the current vacancy rates and 
the effect on safety-related work. The framework further outlines 
the magnitude of unfilled vacancies within safety-critical grades 
and highlights industry-wide policies, process and procedures 
for the management of vacancies based on international best 
practices.

Workload planning and management in the South African 
railway industry is limited to rostering and scheduling of 
activities. This accounts for and accommodates for operational 
requirements as a priority rather than allocating the estimated 
number of employees based on perceived notions of the 
employees’ requirements. While operational requirements are 
critical for workload planning, it is critical that due consideration 
is given to  the capabilities and the limitations of the employees 
performing those tasks. This necessitates that safety-related 
work be designed by considering the workload of the employee 
performing safety critical and safety-related work and how this 
should impact the railway system. The workload planning and 
management framework is intended to assist railway operators 
in ensuring that tasks are allocated with the necessary resources 
(i.e. not more or less than is required) to increase efficiencies 
without compromising performance or safety. 

Training of the Unemployed 

Rail is the bedrock of the South African public transport system 
because of its unique ability to transport large volumes of people 
and freight, thus contributing immensely to the socio-economic 
needs of the country. It is worth emphasising that safe railway 
operations are at the top of the RSR’s regulatory agenda, 
particularly because of the RSR’s objective to promote rail as 
a safe and reliable mode of transport. Given the importance of 
rail transport, the RSR’s mandate has increasingly become vital, 
warranting it to redouble efforts in ensuring safety. The safety 
initiative led to the creation of a project which had two main 
objectives;

• To implement visible rail safety programmes aimed at 
reducing the number of accidents and fatalities for example, 
the deployment of railway safety ambassadors as part of 
the programme;
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• To skill [and re-skill] the youth with sufficient technical, 
skills and aptitude intended to provide international 
standards of rail transport with high levels of safety, 
reliability, predictability and comfort that responds in part to 
the Strategic Integrated Programmes (SIPs) and improve 
the quality of the railways in South Africa.

The Training of the Unemployed programme (TOU) was a 
flagship initiative by the RSR which was designed to support 
the railway sector by ensuring it remains the safest and 
preferred mode of transport. The primary purpose of the TOU is 
to spread education and awareness about safety and to equip 
unskilled and/or low skilled, unemployed South Africans with 
the necessary rail safety industry skills and knowledge.

The 10th edition of the RSR’s State of Safety Report indicated 
that 60 per cent of the occurrences in the railway sector are 
attributable to human factor breaches and a shortage of 
personnel remains one of the challenges that South African 
railway operators face. The lack of skills and requisite high 
vacancy levels in safety critical posts have been identified as 
contributing factors in almost all the major railway occurrences 
that have occurred in the country.

A total of 133 interns participated in the RSR’s external training 
programme. At the end of November 2018, 123 learners had 
successfully completed the programme and were awarded 
received certificates. In support of the national agenda of youth 
development, the support accorded to the youth is providing 
significant assistance in developing qualified capacity for the 
South African labour market.

In line with the leadership provided by the RSR, the 
Department of Roads and Public Works, through the EPWP, 
has taken the initiative to provide further training to the interns 
who successfully completed the initial training programme. 
The training focussed on Disaster Management for the Port 
Elizabeth group, while the East London group were exposed to 
Digital TV installation training.

In addition, the interns have been involved in public relations 
and educational  activities at PRASA’s Metrorail Headquarters 
in East London. They have demonstrated their rail skills during 
visits to schools from the Umtata Region and this opportunity 
has improved their knowledge and awareness of safety on 
railway property. The educational campaigns concentrated 
on the hazards and consequences of unsafe activities on or 
near railway lines. The rail safety training internships for this 
programme will continue until August 2019. 

The the need for more focused technical skills, linkages 
with other training programme such as the Gibela training 
programme the President’s Youth Empowerment Service (YES) 
have been identified. One of the key challenges of learnerships 
is the potential for absorption into full-time employment. The 
RSR has engaged with partners in the industry to ensure that a 
number of the interns are absorbed into the workplace. As the 
project draws to a close in August 2019, this will be the focus 
of discussions. 
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Strategic outcome-oriented goals
In executing its legislative oversight mandate, the RSR performed the following duties and functions:

STRATEGIC 
PILLARS

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOMES

GOAL STATEMENT STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Triple E: 
Enforcement, 
education and 
engineering/ 
human factors

1. Safer railways To change from an 
adversarial industry 
approach towards 
a collaborative risk-
based approach in 
mitigating the risks of 
railway occurrences 
and thereby reducing 
the number of 
occurrences.

1.1 Establishment of a common platform for regular 
engagement between the RSR and high-risk operators 
to agree on minimum safety objectives to be achieved 
by individual operators to ensure that high-risk railway 
operators meet or exceed their safety objectives.

1.2    Develop and implement a Safety Risk Model (SRM) 
representative of the overall risk estimate of the 
railway industry.

1.3 Enhance the SMS by developing and implementing a 
Determination for a CSM CA and a CSM RA for railway 
operators to ensure that operational risk exposures 
are identified, analysed, prioritised and appropriately 
mitigated.

1.4 Introduce and phase-in operational excellence with 
the major operators through the RM3. The RM3 
will assist railway operators to achieve operational 
excellence through the effectiveness of their SMS.

1.5 Roll-out a human factors management programme to 
all railway operators.

1.6 Develop and implement a Determination for Verbal 
Safety Critical Communications. This strategic 
initiative will ensure that the correct communications 
protocols are observed between safety critical staff 
during train authorisations. The Determination will 
reduce the risk of SPADs and collisions during 
degraded mode.

1.7 Establish an industry work group on interoperability 
and interface management. This strategic thrust must 
ensure safe interoperability between operators on 
the common network and the review of all interface 
management agreements between operators 
addressing the operational risks at the common 
network and interface of railway operations.
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STRATEGIC 
PILLARS

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOMES

GOAL STATEMENT STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Excellence 2. Sustainable  
    institutional   
    growth and  
    development 

We strive for 
excellence by 
enriching our 
governance 
processes and 
procedures 
with applicable 
compliance 
frameworks and risk 
strategies.

2.1 Secure a sustainable operational financial base.

2.2 Ensure performance excellence. 

2.3 Develop and implement an IIMS which can enable the 
RSR to measure the effectiveness of the compliance 
monitoring initiatives.

Relevance 3. Improved  
    stakeholder  
    service 

By providing 
a platform for 
collaboration with 
all stakeholders and 
interested parties, 
we will be recognised 
as a leading 
safety regulator by 
improving on the 
levels of awareness 
among operators, 
commuters and the 
public. 

3.1 Promote safe railway behaviour. 

3.2 Establishment of an Industry Stakeholder Interest 
Group on Infrastructure and Rolling Stock. This shall 
ensure that all stakeholders are kept abreast on the 
roll out of new infrastructure and rolling stock and 
investment programmes; improved maintenance 
strategies and universal access to ensure that rail 
safety considerations play a major role.

3.3 Implement a platform for regular engagement with 
organised labour, stakeholders and affected parties to 
share on lessons learnt to further improve on railway 
safety.
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Performance information by programme
The table below provides a summary of the 2018/19 annual targets as well as the results for the year.

KPI NO. ANNUAL TARGET RESULT

1.1 Safety Performance Agreements set for 15 Category A Operators by 31 March 2019 Achieved

1.2.1 Safety risk model framework developed through industry working committees by 31 March 
2019

Achieved

1.2.1.1 Draft Determination for Occurrence Reporting developed for public comment by 31 March 
2019

Achieved

1.3.1 Common Safety Method for Conformity Assessments (CSM CA) implemented by 31 March 
2019

Achieved

1.3.1.1 Framework for CSM RA developed by 31 March 2019 Achieved

1.3.2 Railway Management Maturity assessment tool adopted by 31 March 2019 Achieved

1.4.1 Industry accepted frameworks developed by 31 March 2019 to address:
•	 Competency management 
•	 Safety critical vacancies
•	 Workload planning

Achieved

1.5.1 Draft industry national protocol for Verbal Safety Critical Communication published for public 
comment by 31 March 2019

Achieved

1.6.1 Interface agreement framework developed by 31 March 2019 Achieved

2.1.1 Revised Permit Fee Model validated and finalised by 31 March 2019 Achieved

2.2.1 RSR Service Delivery Index (SDIX) = 55 by 31 March 2019 Achieved

2.2.2 Annual expenditure variance not exceeding 5 per cent of the approved budget for 2018/19 by 
31 March 2019

Achieved

2.3.1 IMS scope completed by 31 March 2019 Achieved

3.1.1 20 Railway safety promotion initiatives conducted by 31 March 2019 Achieved

3.2.1 Annual industry safety thematic intervention conducted by 31 March 2019 Achieved

3.3.1 Industry-discussion forum established by 31 March 2019 Achieved

3.3.1.1 3 Industry-organised labour forum discussions conducted by 31 March 2019 Achieved

OVERALL SCORE 100 %
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The graph below depicts the comparison of performance for the 2014/15 to 2018/19 MTEF period:

Comparison of 2014/15 to 2018/19 FY
Annual Cumulative Targets Performance
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Performance information by programme

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.1

To ensure that high-risk railway operators meet or exceed their safety objectives.

Objective 
Statement

In recognising and acknowledging that safe railway operations are fundamental to the safety of all persons 
and the environment, the RSR has committed to providing safety assurance to all sectors of society that 
interact with the country’s national railway system in a manner consistent with human and ecosystem 
health and well being.  Safety assurance is ensured by focusing on and reporting on the performance and 
overall effectiveness of operators’ established safety risk controls.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Number of high-
risk operators 
for which safety 
performance 
targets are set.

1.1.1 Safety Performance 
Agreements set 
for 15 Category A 
Operators by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Safety Performance 
Agreements set for 19 
Category A Operators by 
31 March 2019.

Additional Operators 
were trained on the 
SMS Determination, 
therefore, additional 
Agreements were 
concluded.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.2

To develop and implement a Safety Risk Model (SRM) representative of the overall risk estimate of the 
railway industry.

Objective 
Statement

To make railways safer by identifying the overall risk profile of the railway industry to support critical risk 
mitigation decision making through the development of an industry safety risk model.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Safety Risk Model 
developed and 
implemented.

1.2.1 Safety risk 
model framework 
developed through 
industry working 
committees by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Safety risk model 
framework developed 
through industry working 
committees by 31 March 
2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

1.2.1.1 Draft Determination 
for Occurrence 
Reporting developed 
for public comments 
by 31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Draft Determination for 
Occurrence Reporting 
developed for public 
comment by 31 March 
2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.3

Introduce a robust Safety Management System based on industry-consulted Risk Assessment Tools and 
Methodologies.

Objective 
Statement

To make railways safer by embedding Operational Excellence in the Safety Management Systems of all 
the Class A operators through:

•	 An RSR Determination on Safety Management Systems;
•	 An RSR Determination on Common Safety Method on Conformity Assessment;
•	 An RSR Determination on Common Safety Method on Risk Assessments; and
•	 The implementation of a Risk Management Maturity assessment tool.

Key performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

RSR 
Determination 
on SMS 
implemented.

1.3.1 Common 
Safety Method 
for Conformity 
Assessments (CSM 
CA) implemented 
by 31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Common Safety Method for 
Conformity Assessments 
(CSM CA) implemented by 
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

1.3.1.1 Framework for 
CSM RA developed 
by 31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Framework for CSM RA 
developed by 31 March 
2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.3

Introduce a robust Safety Management System based on industry-consulted Risk Assessment Tools and 
Methodologies.

Objective 
Statement

To make railways safer by embedding Operational Excellence in the Safety Management Systems of all 
operators through:

•	 An RSR Determination on Safety Management Systems;
•	 An RSR Determination on Common Safety Method on Conformity Assessment;
•	 An RSR Determination on Common Safety Method on Risk Assessments; and
•	 The implementation of a Risk Management Maturity assessment tool.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Implementation 
of railway 
management 
maturity 
assessments.

1.3.2 Railway 
Management 
Maturity assessment 
tool adopted by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Railway Management 
Maturity assessment tool 
adopted by  
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.4

Develop and conduct a Human Factors Management Capacity building programme aimed at:

1. Standardising Competency Management Systems (CSM).
2. Determining acceptable vacancy rates within safety-critical grades.
3. Ensuring effective workload planning for staff involved with safety critical work.

Objective 
Statement

To make railways safer by managing the risks associated with safety related grades in railway operations.  
The programme is aimed at addressing the identified risks associated with safety critical work at high-risk 
operators to:

•	 Standardise Competency Management Systems (CSM) in place with all operators;
•	 Determine acceptable Vacancy rates within safety-critical grades; and
•	 Ensure effective workload planning for staff involved with safety critical work.

Key performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

HFM Capacity 
Building 
programme 
developed and 
conducted 
for high-risk 
operators.

1.4.1 Industry accepted 
frameworks 
developed to 
address:

•	 Competency 
management; 

•	 Safety critical 
vacancies; and

•	 Workload 
planning 

developed by 
31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Industry accepted 
frameworks developed to 
address:

•	 Competency 
management; 

•	 Safety critical 
vacancies; and

•	 Workload planning 

developed by 
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.5

Developed and implemented Determination on Verbal Safety Critical Communications

Objective 
Statement

To make railways safer by addressing the risks associated with train collisions and signals passed at 
danger when manual train authorisations take place during degraded mode.  This will ensure that the 
correct communications protocols are observed between safety critical staff during train authorisations and 
protocols which will reduce the risk of SPAD’s and collisions

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Verbal Safety 
Communication 
determination 
developed.

1.5.1 Draft industry 
national protocol 
for Verbal 
Safety Critical 
Communication 
published for public 
comment by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Draft industry national 
protocol for Verbal Safety 
Critical Communication 
published for public 
comment by  
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 1

RAILWAYS ARE SAFER

Strategic 
Objective 1.6

Interoperability concerns identified and all interface agreements aligned with the identified operational risk 
exposures.

Objective 
Statement

To mitigate risks of occurrences associated with interoperability between operators on the common network 
at the interface of railway operations.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for deviation Action plan

Interface 
agreements 
aligned with 
operational risks.

1.6.1 Interface 
Agreement 
Framework 
developed by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Interface Agreement 
framework developed by 
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required 
as the annual 
target has been 
achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 2

SUSTAINABLE INSTITUTIONAL GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Strategic 
Objective 2.1

To secure an adequate operational financial base.

Objective 
Statement

Ensuring revenue streams that allow for the sustained and effective execution of our legislative and 
strategic mandates.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Progress made 
in revising the 
Permit Fee 
Model developed 
in 2014/15.

2.1.1 Revised Permit Fee 
Model validated and 
finalised by  
31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Revised Permit Fee Model 
validated and finalised by 
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 2

SUSTAINABLE INSTITUTIONAL GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Strategic 
Objective 2.2

To ensure performance excellence.

Objective 
Statement

Sustained performance can be achieved by the effective management of the organisation through awareness 
of the organisation’s environment by learning and by the appropriate application of improvement and/or 
innovations.  This requires a robust, integrated and objective performance management system, that is, a 
Management Quality System (MQS) that can evaluate the maturity level of the organisation – covering its 
leadership, strategy, management systems, resources and core business processes – to identify areas of 
strengths and weaknesses and opportunities for improvement and/or innovations.  

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Year-on-year 
Service Delivery 
Index (SDIX) 
growth.

2.2.1 RSR Service 
Delivery Index 
(SDIX) = 55 by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

RSR Service Delivery Index 
(SDIX) = 58 by 31 March 
2019.

The entity improved 
the efficiency 
and effectiveness 
of its individual 
performance 
management 
processes.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 2

SUSTAINABLE INSTITUTIONAL GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Strategic 
Objective 2.2

To ensure performance excellence.

Objective 
Statement

Sustained performance can be achieved by the effective management of the organisation through awareness 
of the organisation’s environment by learning and by the appropriate application of improvement and/or 
innovations.  This requires a robust, integrated and objective performance management system, that is, a 
Management Quality System (MQS) that can evaluate the maturity level of the organisation – covering its 
leadership, strategy, management systems, resources and core business processes – to identify areas of 
strengths and weaknesses and opportunities for improvement and/or innovations.  

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Effective 
management 
of human 
and financial 
resources 
through 
budgetary 
control and 
governance 
measures.

2.2.2 Annual Expenditure 
variance not 
exceeding 5 per 
cent of the approved 
budget for 2018/19.

Annual target achieved

Annual Expenditure 
variance not exceeding 5 
per cent of the approved 
budget for 2018/19 by 31 
March 2019

88 per cent YTD (R224 474 
662 of R253 674 333).

The variance is due 
to commitments 
for services that 
have not yet been 
rendered.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 2

SUSTAINABLE INSTITUTIONAL GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Strategic 
Objective 2.3

To develop and implement an IIMS which can inform the effectiveness of the RSR’s compliance monitoring 
initiatives.

Objective 
Statement

Development and implementation of an RSR IMS to deliver data integrity to support operational intelligence 
in assuring the effectiveness of the RSR’s compliance activities. This will also enable the RSR to ensure that 
all audits, inspections and investigations are closed.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

IMS 
implemented 
to direct the 
compliance 
monitoring 
initiatives.

2.3.1 IMS scope completed 
by 31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

IMS scope completed by 
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 3

IMPROVED STAKEHOLDER SERVICE

Strategic 
Objective 3.1

To promote safe railway behaviour.

Objective 
Statement

Address the lack of awareness regarding railway safety through education, communication and training 
initiatives within the community and among operators.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Number 
of safety 
promotion 
initiatives 
conducted.

3.1.1 20 Railway safety 
promotion initiatives 
conducted by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

21 Railway safety 
promotion initiatives 
conducted by  
31 March 2019.

Additional requests 
were received from 
DoT to partner on 
safety promotion 
initiatives.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 3

IMPROVED STAKEHOLDER SERVICE

Strategic 
Objective 3.2

To address identified safety risks with the introduction of new technologies, including maintenance strategies 
and to promote safety consideration of universal access, by means of annual industry safety interventions 
which will focus on selected railway safety themes.

Objective 
Statement

To promote safety as a major deciding factor through, but not limited to:

•	 Investment in railway infrastructure and rolling stock to streamline the introduction of new technology and 
capital investment;

•	 Improved railway maintenance strategies; and
•	 Improved awareness and access to railway transportation for people with impaired mobility.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Annual 
Industry Safety 
Thematic 
Interventions 
conducted.

3.2.1 Annual industry 
safety thematic 
intervention 
conducted by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Annual industry safety 
thematic intervention 
conducted by  
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOME 3

IMPROVED STAKEHOLDER SERVICE

Strategic 
Objective 3.3

Regular engagement with organised labour and interested parties to encourage collaboration towards 
improved railway safety of employees, commuters and the public.

Objective 
Statement

Encourage the collaboration and participation of interested and affected parties in improving railway safety.

Key 
performance 
indicator

No Annual target

2018/19

Actual performance Reason for 
deviation

Action plan

Industry-
discussion 
forum 
implemented.

3.3.1 Industry-discussion 
forum established by 
31 March 2019.

Annual target achieved

Industry-discussion forum 
established by 31 March 
2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

3.3.1.1 3 Industry 
organised labour 
forum discussions 
conducted by 31 
March 2019.

Annual target achieved

3 Industry organised 
labour forum discussions 
conducted by  
31 March 2019.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.

Not required as the 
annual target has 
been achieved.
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   Social responsibility

Public Service Announcement 

The Media and Communications Department developed a Public Service Announcement (PSA) to profile the RSR 
and rail safety. The PSA was developed with the intent to broadcast it throughout the month of November 2018 to 
positioning the RSR as an authority and custodian of railway safety in South Africa, while promoting the philosophy 
that railway safety is everyone’s responsibility. 

To date, the RSR brand has not been effectively established and distinguished from some of the major operators. 
This has left the RSR vulnerable to reputational damage associated with the shortcomings of operators, with many 
of its mass public communications having been reactive and driven by public outcry at a failed rail system. This has 
created a perception that the RSR is inactive and ineffective. 

It, therefore, became imperative for the RSR to develop a proactive, mass marketing campaign to position itself as 
an effective regulating authority which is committed to ensuring railway safety and holding all parties who inhibit 
this goal accountable. 

The PSA campaign was developed to create brand visibility and recognition and to differentiate the RSR from 
operators across different demographics, while giving stakeholders the impetus to take steps to drastically improve 
the quality and safety of commuter railway transportation. 

The SABC was selected as the medium to broadcast the PSA to the RSR’s target audience. Television platforms 
provided by the SABC exposed the RSR to millions of commuters over the month of November. By means of 
community-based television stations aimed at the greater Cape Town metropolitan area, as well as Transit Ads 
which targets the commuting public who uses taxi’s, buses and trains, the RSR’s messaging was communicated 
to millions of commuters.

The unique nature of the PSA, as well as the development of the Train Tracks competition, enabled the RSR to 
secure interviews on popular TV magazine and youth entertainment shows. This publicity campaign provided 
additional exposure for the RSR and the opportunity to expand on its position within the rail industry.

Social media platforms such as Twitter, Facebook and YouTube were used as additional distribution mechanisms 
and provided interested parties with the opportunity to interact with the PSA and the RSR. 
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Cell C Take a Girl Child to Work Day 

The RSR hosted a total of 43 learners as part of the national initiative, with the theme #morethanaday. The initiative is 
aimed at empowering girl learners by exposing them to positive role models, career guidance and employment opportunities 
available in the public and private sectors. It also provides learners with the opportunity  to experience the working 
environment first-hand. The RSR opened its doors to 15 girls from Realogile High School in Alexandra, Johannesburg; 10 
from Isizinda Secondary School in Durban and 18 from Lentegeur Secondary School in Cape Town. 

Tomorrow’s Men Day

The event which took place on 14 March, saw the RSR host 17 boy leaners in Grades 10,11 and 12 from the Edward 
Phatudi Comprehensive School in Attridgeville. 

On the day, various staff members presented valuable information to the learners on how to become leading professionals 
in the corporate world. This included professions like Chartered Accountants, Researchers, Entrepreneurs and ICT 
Specialists, among others. The learners were informed of  the mandate of the RSR, as well as the career opportunities 
within the organisation. At the end of the programme, learners committed to the Tracker Pledge and vowed to become 
responsible men.

Mandela Day

Mandela Day activities were conducted in the provinces where the organisation has regional offices. The Gauteng Regional 
Office visited the St Barnard Hospice at Nazareth House in Yeoville, Johannesburg on 18 July. RSR staff members provided 
cleaning service and donated clothing, towels, groceries and various winter essentials to help the patients cope with the 
harsh weather conditions.

The Western Cape Regional Office assisted the Khayalethemba Village in Strand, which cares for infants, toddlers and 
adolescents living with disabilities. The KwaZulu-Natal Regional Office offered a helping hand, to a football club that caters 
for the youth from disadvantaged communities by donating sporting equipment. The Lenham Sporting Football Club in 
Phoenix offers membership to several players and exposes them to coaching by skilled volunteers. The lack of sporting 
equipment posed a serious challenge and will assist in developing the youth.  
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PART C:   
GOVERNANCE
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Introduction 

The RSR is governed by the Board, appointed in terms of 
the National Railway Safety Regulator Act No. 16 of 2002 as 
amended (“the Act”) and reports to the Minister of Transport. 
The Board provides strategic guidance to advance the mandate 
with which the RSR is entrusted and provides a framework 
for improving the corporate governance of the organisation as 
prescribed by the Act.

The Report reflects the corporate governance performance of 
the RSR in relation to Board and committee meetings/activities, 
as well as the conduct of the RSR in pursuing its legislative role, 
mandate and obligations.

The Board

The RSR is committed to good governance and practises ethical 
standards in discharging its mandate through its Board that is 
appointed by the Minister of Transport in terms of the Act. In 
executing its mandate, the Board is guided by the Board Charter 
and terms of reference of its subcommittees. 

All the non-executive directors are independent and are 
expected to contribute an unfettered and independent view 
on matters considered by the Board. They have a significant 
influence on deliberations at meetings and bring a wide range 
of experience and skills to the Board. They are required to 
execute their duties accurately and to participate actively in the 
proceedings at Board meetings.

Board meetings are scheduled annually in advance. Special 
meetings, to address specific emerging matters, are convened 
as and when required. 

As guided by the Board Charter, the Board retains full control 
over the RSR, its plans and strategy. The Board acknowledges 
its responsibilities to strategy, compliance with internal policies, 
external laws and regulations, performance management, 
effective risk management, transparency and effective 
communication, both internally and externally.

The information needs of the Board are considered on a regular 
basis and directors are given access to company information, 
records, documents and property. The Board also have access 
to all members of management of the entity.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed and approved 
its Charter and the terms of reference of its sub-committees to 
ensure that they are in line with King IV and best governance 
practices. An independent evaluation of the performance of the 
Board and its sub-committees against the Charter and terms of 
reference for the 2018/19 FY was conducted during the period 
under review.

Board Committees

The Board has established its Committees with various 
performance functions to assist it in the execution of its 
responsibilities. The reports and recommendations of the 
Committees to the Board ensures transparency and full 
disclosure of Committee and business-related activities. 

Each Committee operates within the terms of reference which 
sets out the membership composition, roles, responsibilities, 
delegated authority and the requirements for convening 
meetings. Committee meeting agendas, papers and minutes 
are made available to all members of the Board on request. 

Ad hoc Committees may also be established from time to time 
to consider and deal with specific matters. The Committees 
provide an efficient and proactive space for the processing of 
information before Board meetings. Of critical importance is the 
fact that all Committees have enhanced their performance to 
optimal levels and that the available human resources in terms 
of Board members were utilised effectively and efficiently during 
the year under review.
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NAME APPOINTMENT DATE
Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta 01 November 2016

Mr Johannes Nobunga 01 November 2016

Ms Masaccha Mbonambi 01 November 2016 (Re-appointment)

Mr Andre Harrison 01 November 2016 (Re-appointment)

Ms Ntombizine Mbiza 01 November 2016 (Re-appointment) 

Mr Tibor Szana 01 November 2016 (Re-appointment)

Mr Christiaan de Vos 01 November 2016

Mr Jack Mazibuko 11 July 2018

Ms Hilda Thopola 01 November 2016

Mr Ngwako Makaepea 01 November 2016

Mr Zacharia Mosothoane 01 November 2016

Mr Jan-David de Villiers 11 October 2018

Major-General Michael Motlhala 01 November 2016

Major-General Willem Venter (retired) 01 November 2016 (Re-appointment)

Ex Officio Member: Ms Tshepo Kgare (Acting CEO) 1 November 2017 (Acting Appointment)
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Board meetings

The following table depicts Board Meetings which took place for the period under review. Five Board meetings were planned as well 
as special meetings, which are listed below:

NAME

05
/04

/18

16
/04

/18

25
/04

/18

24
/05

/18

23
/07

/18

24
/07

/18

30
/07

/18

29
/10

/18

30
/10

/18

23
/11

/18

16
/01

/19

29
/01

/19

19
/03

/19

20
/3/

19

Dr Nomusa Zethu 
Qunta P P P A P P P A P P P P P P

Mr Johannes 
Nobunga P A P P P P A P P P P P P P

Ms Masaccha 
Mbonambi A P P P P A A A P P A N/A N/A N/A

Mr Andre Harrison P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Ms Ntombizine Mbiza P P P P A A A P P P P P P P

Mr Tibor Szana A P A A P A A A P A P A A A

Mr Christiaan de Vos P P P P P P P P P P P P A P

Mr Jack Mazibuko * * * * * * * A A A A A N/A N/A

Ms Hilda Thopola P P P P P P P A P A P P P P

Mr Ngwako 
Makaepea A P P P P P A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr Zacharia 
Mosothoane P N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Major-General 
Michael Motlhala P A P P P A A P P A A A P A

Major-General Willem 
Venter (retired) P P P P P P P A P P P P P P

Mr Jan-David de 
Villiers ** ** ** ** ** ** ** P A A P P A A

Ms Tshepo Kgare P P P P P P P P P P P P P P

Legend:  P - Present, A - Apology, N/A - Not Applicable
* Appointed on 11/07/2018
**Appointed on 11/10/2018
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NAME

05
/04

/18
Mi

ni
st

er
’s 

Me
et

in
g

24
/04

/18
Bo

ar
d 

Tr
ain

in
g

23
/05

/18
Bo

ar
d 

Tr
ain

in
g

23
/07

/18
Bo

ar
d 

Tr
ain

in
g

22
/11

/18
Bo

ar
d 

St
ra

t P
lan

 

Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta P A P A P

Mr Johannes Nobunga P P P P P

Ms Masaccha Mbonambi A A P A A

Mr Andre Harrison P P P P P

Ms Ntombizine Mbiza P P A P P

Mr Tibor Szana P P A P P

Mr Christiaan de Vos P P P P P

Mr Jack Mazibuko * * * * A

Ms Hilda Thopola P P P P A

Mr Ngwako Makaepea P P A P N/A

Mr Zacharia Mosothoane P N/A N/A N/A N/A

Major-General Michael Motlhala P P A P P

Major-General Willem Venter 
(retired)

A P P P P

Mr Jan-David de Villiers ** ** ** ** A

Ms Tshepo Kgare P P P P P
Legend:  P - Present, A - Apology, N/A - Not Applicable
* Appointed on 11/07/2018
**Appointed on 11/10/2018
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Board committees

For the period under review, the Board had three sub-committees. These are the Audit and Risk -, Human Resources and 
Remuneration - and the Safety Committee.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

MEMBERS

18
/04

/18

24
/04

/18

17
/05

/18

13
/07

/18

26
/07

/18

27
/09

/18

25
/10

/18

29
/11

/18

21
/01

/19

Mr Ameen Amod P P P P P P P P P

Ms Desiree Nage P P P P A P P P P

Ms Ntombizine Mbiza P P P P A P P P P

Mr Andre Harrison P P P P P P P P P

Ms Reshoketswe Ralebepa P P A P P P P A A

Ms Tshepo Kgare P P P P P P P P P
Legend:  P - Present, A - Apology

Safety Committee

MEMBERS

11
/04

/20
18

03
/05

/20
18

05
/07

/20
18

03
/08

/20
18

10
/10

/20
18

10
/02

/20
19

Mr Zacharia Mosothoane P N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ms Hilda Thopola P P P P P P

Mr Chris de Vos P P P P P P

Major-General Willem Venter (retired) P P P P P P

Major-General Michael Motlhala A P P P A P

Mr Tibor Szana A P A A A P

Mr Ngwako Makaepea P P P P P N/A

Mr Jack Mazibuko * * * A A N/A

Ms Tshepo Kgare P A P P P P
Legend:  P- Present, A - Apology, N/A - Not Applicable
*Appointed on 11/07/2018
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Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

MEMBERS 12/04/2018 12/07/2018 17/10/2018 06/02/201 08/03/2019
Ms Masaccha Mbonambi P P A N/A N/A

Ms Hilda Thopola P P P P P

Mr Chris de Vos P P P P P

Mr Andre Harrison P P P P P

Ms Ntombizine Mbiza P P P P P

Ms Tshepo Kgare P P A P P
Legend:  P - Present, A - Apology, N/A - Not Applicable
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Risk management
Responsibility of the Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has complied 
with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1) (a) (ii) 
of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and the 
National Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit and Risk 
Committee has adopted formal terms of reference, the 
Audit and Risk Committee Charter and has regulated 
its affairs and discharged all of its responsibilities in 
compliance with this Charter. 

Integrated Risk Management

The Board is responsible for entrenching RSR-wide risk 
management governance through effective leadership. 
Management accounts to the Board for the effective 
integration of risk management into the daily operations 
and for the implementation and monitoring of the risk 
management process.

The Committee considers all risk matters and provides 
oversight and recommendations on the overall risk 
management system, with special attention placed on 
the risks that have been measured as above acceptable 
tolerance levels. The Audit and Risk Committee 
independently monitors the effectiveness of the risk 
management system and reports to the Board accordingly. 

The RSR has implemented an integrated internal 
risk management strategy which identifies risks and 
opportunities on an ongoing basis. This strategy is 
underpinned by the following principles:

•	 A strong and solid risk culture is a critical pillar of good 
governance;

•	 Consideration of real and potential risks in decision-
making processes;

•	 The acceptance that risk management is mandatory;

•	 Continuous monitoring of the risk exposure as 
impacted by the changing internal and external 
environment;

•	 Acceptance that accountability for risk management 
cannot be deferred or shifted; and

•	 The importance of maintaining an appropriate balance 
between risk and control.

Governance and Risk Management

The Audit and Risk Committee provides oversight of the 
risk management function. Management has designed 
and implemented controls to manage the risk faced by 
the RSR. The Risk Management Unit reports to the Audit 
and Risk Committee on the management of risks and 
advises management on a continual basis on the best 
risk management practices. This includes monitoring of 
progress made on the implementation of future mitigation 
strategies to provide assurance that the RSR is effectively 
managing its risks. The Committee has reviewed the 
strategic risk register, considered emerging risks and risks 
that materialised as well as requested a revision of risk  
mitigation measures in place and to be implemented to 
ensure risks are within tolerable levels. 

The RSR ensures progress in the management of risks 
through its risk monitoring activities. It is committed to 
improving its risk performance on an ongoing basis, where 
high risk areas are targeted through focused resources 
and effort.
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Top Strategic Risks

1 Loss of key personnel 5 Loss of critical data

2 Financial sustainability 6 Inadequate stakeholder buy-in and support

3 Lack of independence 7 Rapid technological advancements

4 Inaccurate and incomplete safety information 8 Excessive cost of regulation

Loss of Key Personnel is the only strategic risk which falls outside of the RSR’s risk appetite level. This risk relates to 
the loss of key technical skills within the Operational Departments and high performing individuals within the support 
departments. This risk is caused by the uncertainties, fears and anxieties caused by the current restructuring process 
together with the low salary increases and lack of performance bonuses over the last two financial years. Should the 
risk materialise, it may result in the non-achievement of strategic and operational objectives which may, in turn, affect 
the RSR’s ability to execute its mandate. 

The RSR Board has set the risk appetite level at a maximum turnover rate of 10 per cent. Over the past year, the 
organisation’s headcount has decreased from 196 employees in March 2018 to 160 employees at the end of March 
2019. It is probable that the projected turnover rate for the coming year may exceed the tolerance level of 10 per cent 
due to the current low staff morale caused by the uncertainties, fears and frustrations experienced as a result of the 
factors described above.

Likelihood

Almost certain

Highly likely

Possible

Remote

Unlikely

Impact

1

5
4 2

8
7 6

3
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The current and future mitigating controls proposed are 
inadequate to mitigate the risk. The RSR Board has accepted 
that this risk arises as an unintended consequence of the 
interventions linked to the Financial Recovery Plan.

Fraud and Corruption Prevention Strategy 

The RSR has implemented a Fraud and Corruption Prevention 
Strategy as part of the overall governance strategy.  The 
effectiveness of the Strategy is monitored on an ongoing basis.  
Management is responsible for the prevention of incidents and 
occurrences of fraud and corruption and does this through 
the design, implementation and monitoring of a sound system 
of internal control.  A risk assessment with a specific focus on 
fraud and corruption is conducted annually and monitoring and 
reporting are being done continually. Education and awareness 
of potential incidents of fraud and corruption are conducted on 
a regular basis.

The effectiveness of internal control

The system of controls within the RSR is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that 
liabilities and working capital are properly managed in line with 
the PFMA and the protocol on corporate governance.  This is 
achieved by means of a risk-based internal audit plan, Internal 
Audit assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of controls 
mitigating the risks and the Audit and Risk Committee monitoring 
the implementation of corrective actions.

From the Committee’s review of the reports of the Internal 
Auditors, the Audit Report on the review of the Annual Financial 
Statements and the Management Report from the Auditor-

General of South Africa (AGSA), it can be concluded that 
the system of internal control as applied over financial and 
non-financial matters and enterprise risk management and 
governance at the RSR is generally satisfactory. However, 
improvements are required within supply chain management.  
The Committee has noted management’s commitment to 
address the lack of control effectiveness, where they exist, in 
such areas relating to SCM.  The Committee will be monitoring 
management’s progress in resolving these issues on a regular 
basis.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit function is managed through a co-sourced 
model under the direction of the Chief Audit Executive. The 
Internal Audit plan comprised of 14 planned audit reviews, and 
one special adhoc review as listed below, all of which were fully 
executed during the financial year:    

•	 Annual Financial Statements
•	 2017/18 Asset Management
•	 Occurrence Investigations
•	 Database Management
•	 Contract Management
•	 Performance Information
•	 Audits and Inspections
•	 Leave Management
•	 2018/19 Asset Management
•	 Governance Review
•	 IT Security
•	 Legal Risk
•	 Payroll
•	 SCM
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Special / Ad Hoc Reviews 

The Skills / Qualifications Verification was the only special 
request that was made by Management in the period under 
review. 

Governance process

The Audit and Risk Committee is also responsible for monitoring 
governance and compliance with the RSR’s Code of Conduct.  
Furthermore, the Committee is responsible for ensuring that all 
calls to the RSR Whistle-blowing Hotline, as administered by the 
external independent service provider, are followed up. Based 
on sufficient information being provided when a call is received, 
an investigation is initiated.  The service provider provides a list 
and details of reported cases to the Audit and Risk Committee 
Chairperson monthly.  The Audit and Risk Committee reports 
that no cases that warranted investigation has been reported 
through the hotline during the period under review.

ICT Governance
ICT governance remains a key focus of the Audit and Risk 
Committee on behalf of the RSR Board.  The Committee provided 
oversight on the ICT governance and reported accordingly to the 
Board during the period under review.

Quarterly report

The Audit and Risk Committee was satisfied with the content and 
quality of the quarterly financial and performance information 
presented to the Committee by the Chief Executive Officer.  
All the reports were submitted to the Executive Authority and 
National Treasury as per the agreed upon time lines.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

•	 reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial 
Statements to be included in the Annual Report with the 
AGSA and the Chief Executive Officer;

•	 reviewed the AGSA’s Management Report and 
Management’s response thereto;

•	 reviewed accounting policies and practices as reported in 
the Annual Financial Statements;

•	 reviewed the RSR’s processes for compliance with legal 
and regulatory provisions;

•	 reviewed the information on predetermined objectives as 
reported in the Annual Report;

•	 reviewed adjustments resulting from the audit of the RSR; 
and

•	 reviewed and where appropriate, recommended changes 
to the Annual Financial Statements as presented by the 
RSR Management for the year ending 31 March 2018.

Report of the Auditor General South Africa 

The Audit and Risk Committee has on a quarterly basis reviewed 
the RSR’s implementation plan of audit issues raised in the prior 
year.  The Audit and Risk Committee has met with the AGSA to 
ensure that there are no unresolved issues that emanated from 
the regulatory audit.  Corrective actions on the detailed findings 
raised by the AGSA will continue to be monitored by the Audit 
and Risk Committee on a quarterly basis.
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The Audit and Risk Committee concurs and accepts the 
conclusions of the AGSA on the Annual Financial Statements 
and believes that the audited Annual Financial Statements must 
be accepted and read together with the report of the AGSA.

Appreciation

The Audit and Risk Committee wishes to acknowledge the 
dedication and work performed by the Chief Executive Officer, 
Management and Officials of the RSR. The Audit and Risk 
Committee wishes to express its appreciation to Management, 
the AGSA and the Internal Audit Unit for the co-operation and 
information they have provided to enable the Committee to 
discharge its responsibilities.

______________________________
Dr Prittish Dala 
PhD (IT), M.IT, CISA, CISM, CRISC, CGEIT, CISSP, CEH, CHFI, 
LA27001, PCI-QSA
CHAIRPERSON: AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Minimising Conflict of interest

The RSR is guided by its approved Code of Conduct and 
Ethics  as approved by the Board.  To uphold the highest ethical 
standards and norms, certain professional behaviour is expected 
of every employee and all employees are expected to:

•	 Take personal responsibility for their actions and should 
comply with all legal obligations, policies and procedures;

•	 Act honestly and in good faith;

•	 Perform their duties conscientiously and in the best interests 
of the RSR; and

•	 Exercise reasonable care and diligence in the performance 
of their duties;

The RSR is, therefore, guided by the Code of Conduct and 
Ethics in dealing with misconduct or non-compliance with the 
above mentioned required behaviours.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

The purpose of the RSR’s Code of Conduct and Ethics is to:

•	 Establish standards that would promote and encourage 
ethical behaviour and decision making by all RSR 
employees, Board members and stakeholders;

•	 Ensure that ethics and desirable business conduct are 
clearly communicated as an integral part of the RSR’s 
corporate identity, culture and purpose;

•	 Ensure that a good ethical foundation informs the RSR’s 
policies, procedures, practices, conduct and business 
processes; and

•	 Relay a clear message that failure to live up to the desired 
ethics and conduct could undermine the RSR’s objectives 
and will not be tolerated.
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The RSR deems contravention of this Code as a 
serious matter and those who violate the Code or similar  
policies will be subjected to disciplinary measures, which 
may include the termination of services.  Discipline 
measures may also be imposed for conduct that is 
considered unethical or improper, even if the conduct is 
not specifically covered in the Code.  In all cases and 
where applicable, the RSR’s Employee Relations Policy, 
Disciplinary Code and Procedure and the National Railway 
Safety Regulator Act No. 16 of 2002, as amended, will be 
followed.  Contraventions may also lead to civil action or 
criminal charges.

An approval of any action not compliant with the Code 
must be sought in advance and may only be granted by 
the CEO in consultation with the Board.  Only the Board 
may grant waivers of this Code for directors and executive 
officers of RSR.  When a waiver is granted, the Board shall 
ensure that appropriate controls are in place to protect the 
RSR and its stakeholders.

Health, Safety and Environmental 
Issues
The management of Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHS) risks imposes a legal and moral responsibility 
on the Management of the RSR to provide a work 
environment that is safe and free from health hazards.  
This remains one of the RSR’s principal values with the 

aim of achieving zero incidents impacting on employees 
while executing the regulatory mandate of overseeing safe 
railway operations in South Africa. The RSR continues to 
lead by example in matters relating to occupational health 
and safety, thereby prioritising the management of health 
and safety of its employees, contractors, visitors, and any 
other stakeholder that may come into contact with the 
Regulator’s activities. 

In an endeavour to ensure effective compliance with the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 of 1993 and 
related legislative requirements, the RSR achieved the 
following during 2018/19:

OHS Governance Structures

OHS Committee

The RSR has established Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee structures throughout its Offices, namely 
Head Office and the Regional offices in Gauteng, Western 
Cape, and KwaZulu-Natal. 

The new appointments and training of Health and 
Safety representatives, Fire Marshals, First Aiders and 
Evacuation Marshals were conducted to ensure effective 
management of OHS.
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Policy development and implementation
To fulfil its legal and moral obligations for the provision of a safe work environment, the RSR has developed and implemented 
occupational health and safety policies during the year under review. These policies are aimed at providing guidance and 
facilitation of compliance with the applicable legislation, and include the following:

Occupational Health and Safety Policy
The Policy was implemented and effectively monitored to ensure continued compliance with OHS matters and related 
legislative requirements.

Substance Abuse Policy and Alcohol Testing Procedure
The Substance Abuse Policy was developed and implemented in support of the General Safety Regulations to the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act No. 85 of 1993, as amended, and in alignment with one of the RSR’s regulatory tools, the Human 
Factors Management Standard, SANS 3000-4: 2011 which requires that railway operators manage the use of substances in 
the workplace. The implementation of this Policy, therefore, enables the RSR as a Regulator, to lead by example. 

To give effect to this Policy, alcohol tests were conducted randomly on RSR personnel, visitors and contractors during the year 
under review. A total number of 31 sessions of alcohol testing was conducted across the RSR offices.

Smoking Policy
To encourage good health practices and in support of national health strategies to reduce illnesses attributable to tobacco 
smoking and to ensure the provision of a safe work environment, the RSR continues to monitor compliance with the Smoking 
Policy. During the year under review, there was full compliance with the provisions of the Smoking Policy. To ensure compliance 
by our stakeholders, the message is further emphasised by conducting safety briefings for all visitors to the RSR Head Office 
and Regional Offices.

Emergency preparedness
The RSR’s Emergency Plan was developed and approved. Training and testing of the Emergency Plan were done in all 
regions including the Head Office through emergency simulation exercises  which tested the effectiveness of the emergency 
plans and procedures.

Conducted compliance audits
To guide operational excellence, compliance audits were conducted at all RSR offices to assess the level of compliance to 
the minimum requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 of 1993, as amended. Table 2 below, depicts the 
collective level of compliance for the RSR offices:

Table 2: Compliance level for RSR offices

Level of compliance 17/18 Level of compliance 18/19

Office compliance 89% 90%
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There were improvements in the level of compliance at all the 
RSR offices. Continuous monitoring is conducted to ensure full 
compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 
of 1993, as amended.

The Human Resources (HR) Department, a strategic support 
function, has significantly contributed to the attainment of the cost 
containment project undertaken by the Regulator in the period 
under review. This project was instituted with the primary aim of 
improving the services offered by the Regulator and to ensure 
that the operations of the organisation are effectively aligned 
and relevant to the mandate of the RSR. The HR department 
has been instrumental in implementing some of the projects 
that supported this initiative, such as the Voluntary Severance 
Packages (VSP) which were offered to all interested employees. 
The VSP were offered during the months of July and August 
2018 and contributed to the reduction of the organisational 
structure from 196 employees in April 2018 to a re-engineered 
and re-purposed, linear team of 160 in March 2019. 

The HR strategic intent, underpinned by strategic themes, aims 
to create an environment where fit-for-purpose HR solutions 
have a strategic focus on the railway industry.  At the core of its 
objective, is to fully integrate talent management, enhance the 
employee experience by providing interesting, challenging and 
meaningful work, creating career growth opportunities, offering 
competitive and differentiated remuneration (incentives and  
scarce skills allowances) and to ensure an overall positive work 
environment. 

The role of HR has been strategically significant in relation to the 
empowerment of women, taking into consideration that females 
constitute 52 per cent of the total population of the RSR. This 
is deemed positive given the fact that the Economic Active 
Population of South Africa for females stands at 45%.  Positive 
strides have been made through relevant policy positions of the 
RSR to promote the empowerment of females in the railway 
sector. 

In the 18/19 FY, the following policies have been enhanced in 
line with relevant legislative prescripts and in an effort to ensure 
continuous improvement and the promotion of a conducive work 
environment: 

•	 Disciplinary Policy
•	 Employee Wellness Policy
•	 Grievance Policy
•	 Job Evaluation Policy
•	 Labour Relations Policy
•	 Leave Administration Policy
•	 Probation Policy
•	 Recruitment and Selection Policy
•	 Remuneration Policy
•	 Resettlement Guidelines
•	 Sexual Harassment Policy

•	 Restructuring Policy

As a strategic partner to business, the HR Department 
continues to render support and services to enable the business 
to undertake strategic imperatives. The support and services 
rendered to business, particularly through the retention of 
required talent, promotion of female empowerment and the 
creation of a conducive environment through applicable policies, 
has significantly contributed towards the attainment of the set 
performance targets and the overall RSR mandate.   

Introduction
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Personnel cost by programme/activity/objective

Department/Region Total 
expenditure for 

the entity 

Personnel 
expenditure 

Personnel 
expenditure as 
a percentage 

of total 
expenditure 

Number of 
employees 

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

Office of the CEO        25 837 946 9 480 912 4% 8 1 185 114

Strategy & Business Development        10 194 285 9 918 992 4% 10 991 899

OIP        13 088 650 11 041 140 5% 9 1 226 793

Investigations           9 720 573 10 965 336 5% 11 996 849

Operations (COO)        35 170 595 5 522 644 2% 4 1 380 661

Corporate Affairs        26 105 139 10 782 366 5% 14 770 169

Finance        35 967 897 10 484 893 5% 11 953 172

Eastern Cape           2 625 031 3 266 541 1% 5 653 308

Western Cape        10 039 929 14 244 205 6% 19 749 695

Gauteng        41 377 900 53 800 882 24% 80 672 511

KwaZulu Natal        11 311 759 10 396 387 5% 19 547 178

Mpumalanga           3 034 956 5 659 592 3% 6 943 265

Total 224 474 662 155 563 890 69% 196 793 693

Personnel cost by salary band

Level Personnel 
expenditure 

 Percentage 
of personnel 

expenditure to total 
personnel cost

Number of 
employees 

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

Top Management 3 712 102 2% 1 3 712 102

Senior Management 21 809 019 14% 13 1 677 617

Professionally Qualified 91 586 818 59% 86 1 064 963

Skilled 31 488 041 20% 60 524 801

Semi-Skilled 5 667 524 4% 27 209 908

Unskilled 1 300 386 1% 9 144 487

TOTAL 155 563 890 100% 196 793 693
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Performance rewards

Level Performance rewards Personnel expenditure Percentage of performance 
rewards to total personnel cost 

Top Management 0        3 712 102 0%

Senior Management 0      21 809 019 0%

Professional qualified 0      91 586 818 0%

Skilled 0      31 488 041 0%

Semi-skilled 0        5 667 524 0%

Unskilled 0        1 300 386 0%

TOTAL 0 155 563 890 0%

Training costs

Programme Training expenditure (R) Number of employees 
trained 

Average training cost per 
employee 

Internship Programme 0 0 0 

Staff Training 245 901 74 3 323

Bursaries 0 0 0 

TOTAL 245 901 74 3 323

Employment and vacancies

Department Number of posts 
2018/19 staff plan

Number of posts 
filled

Vacancy rate

Office of the CEO 13 8 38%

Strategy & Business Development 12 10 17%

Operations (COO) 122 98 20%

Finance 15 15 0%

Corporate Affairs 45 45 0%

Investigations 16 11 31%

Operational Intelligence & Planning 20 9 55%

TOTAL 243 196 19%
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Employment changes

Salary band Employment 
at the beginning of 

the period 

Appointments Terminations Employment 
at the end of the 

period
Top Management 1 0  0 1

Senior Management 13 0 4 9

Professionally Qualified 86 0 20 66

Skilled 60 0 10 50

Semi-Skilled 27 0 2 25

Unskilled 9 0 0 9

TOTAL 196 0 36 160
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Reasons for staff leaving

Reason Number Percentage of total no. of staff 
leaving 

Resignation 8 22%

Retirement 1 3%

Dismissal 2 6%

Death 0 0%

VSP 19 53%

Contract expiry 6 17%

Total 36 100%

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Nature of disciplinary action Number
Verbal Warning 0

Written Warning 0

Final Written warning 0

Dismissal 2
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Disabled staff

Levels
Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 1 1 0 1

Professional qualified 0 2 0 2

Skilled 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 1 1 1

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 1 4 1 4

Labour stakeholder engagements

The RSR has signed a Recognition Agreement with the National Transport Movement (NTM) in September 2017. The 
parties committed themselves to advance economic development, social justice, labour peace and democratisation of the 
workplace by promoting sound labour relations through consultation and negotiations.
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Preparation of the Annual Financial Statements

The Financial Statements were prepared as required by the 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), Public 
Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 and incorporates 
responsible disclosures in line with accounting practices of the 
Railway Safety Regulator (RSR).

Executive Summary

During the 2018/19 FY the RSR has received a directive from 
the Department of Transport that the determination of fees 
in terms of section 17(1)(bB) of the National Railway Safety 
Regulator Act was gazetted for a three year period, expiring on 
the 15th of September 2018 and is currently due for review and 
that charges may not be levied on operators beyond the expiry 
date. The purpose of the gazette was determining the fees to be 
charged by the RSR to operators who wish to undertake new 
work projects (technology audits). 

The RSR developed a Financial Recovery Plan for  
implementation in the 2018/19 FY in order to stabilise the 
finances of the organisation and thereby ensuring that it will 
be able to remain financially sustainable while foreseeing a 
significant reduction in revenues.  The Recovery Plan was 
successfully implemented during the 2018/19 FY resulting in 
significant cost reduction initiatives in goods and services as 
well as the cost of employment.

Due to the successful implementation of the Recovery 
Plan, the RSR shows an accounting surplus of R19.5 million  
(2017/18: R1 million deficit) in the statement of financial 
performance, an increase in net assets amounting to R18.7 
million (2017/18: R803 158 net liability) as well as a significant 
increase in cash and cash equivalents of R42.7 million (2017/18: 
R10.3 million) in the statement of financial position.

Significant financial challenges were overcome during the 
2018/19 FY and further significant interventions are not foreseen 
over the MTEF period.

Revenue

The total revenue generated for the year amounted to R244 
million, which declined by 11 per cent compared to R273.5 
million reported in the previous reporting period. The decrease 
in revenue was mainly due to the expiry of the gazetted 
determination of fees. 

Permit fees amounted to R164 million, which increased by 9 per 
cent compared to R150.4 million reported in the previous year. 
The interest received amounted to R5.8 million, which grew 
by 132 per cent compared to R2.5 million in the previous year 
due to the significant increase in cash and cash equivalents as 
a result of the Recovery Plan which was implemented by the 
organisation.

The year-on-year decrease in the operational grant is attributable 
to the financial assistance received from the Department of 
Transport during the 2017/18 FY as the RSR projected a 
significant under-collection of budgeted revenues, mainly for 
technology audits.

Expenditure

The total expenditure incurred for the year amounted to R224.5 
million, which declined by 18 per cent compared to R274.6 
million in the previous year. 

The most noticeable decreases relate to the reduction of cost of 
employment by 5 per cent and general expenses by 66 per cent 
due to the implementation of the Recovery Plan.

Depreciation and amortisation increased significantly  
(103 per cent) due to the accelerated depreciation on tenant 
installations as a result of the early termination of a lease 
contract relating to office accommodation. 

The reversal of debt impairment amounting to R7.9 million was 
accounted for in the 2018/19 year due to the recovery of long 
outstanding technology audits revenues.
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Office rental

 reduced by 59 per cent to R11.3 million

 (2017/18: R27.6 million)

Telephone and data

 reduced by 28 per cent to R4.2 

million (2017/18: R5.8 million)

             

Professional fees

 reduced by 27 per cent to R15.5 

million (2017/18: R21.3 million)

Conferences and seminars

 reduced by 54 per cent  to R1.2 million

(2017/18: R2.6 million)

Travel (local and international)

reduced by 43 per cent to R3.8 million 

(2017/18 : R6.7 million)

Cost Containment

The reductions of general expenses can be attributed to the Recovery Plan initiatives that were implemented during the year. The 
following are year-on-year reductions that were realised:
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Cash flow

The cash flow statement indicated net cash inflows from operating activities amounting to R33.7 million compared to 
R17.2 million in the previous year, while the overall net increase in cash and cash equivalents amounted to R32.3 million 
compared to a net increase of R10 million in the previous year.

Other improved financial indicators

- The creditors payment period was 57 days  (2018: 126.1 days); 

- The creditors as a percentage of cash and cash equivalents has significantly improved when compared to the 
previous year currently at 19.6 per cent (2018: 296.2 per cent)

- The debtors impairment provision improved and is currently at 4.7 per cent (2018: 82.1 per cent); and 

- A surplus of R19.5 million was reported compared to a deficit of R1 million in the previous year.

Going concern

The Annual Financial Statements were prepared on a going concern basis. Going concern challenges have been 
reduced to an acceptable level as a result of the successful implementation of the Financial Recovery Plan. Management 
is confident that with the support of the Department of Transport, the RSR will be able to mitigate any future going 
concern risks.

Irregular expenditure

The RSR experienced a significant decrease in irregular expenditure during 2018/19 FY (R2.1 million) when 
compared to the 2017/18 FY (R14.7 million). The closing balance of irregular expenditure amounted to  
R13.3 million (2017/18: R14.8 million). 

Of the R13.3 million remaining in the notes of the Annual Financial Statements an amount of R11.3 million was submitted 
to the National Treasury and awaits condonation. 

Condonation processes and or consequence management will be implemented after the finalisation of pending 
investigations for newly identified irregular expenditure.
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Board Members’ responsibilities and approval

The members of the Board of the RSR are required by the Public Finance Management Act No.1 of 1999, to maintain adequate 
accounting records. The Board is also responsible for the content and integrity of the Annual Financial Statements and related 
financial information included in this report. 

It is responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Annual Financial Statements fairly present the state of affairs of the RSR, the results 
of its operations and cash flows for the period that ended. The External Auditors had unrestricted access to all the financial records 
and related data to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The Audited Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice, including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The Financial Statements are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgement and estimates.

The Board members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 
the RSR and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the members to meet these 
responsibilities, they set standards for internal control to reduce the risk of misstatement or errors in a cost-effective manner. 

The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the RSR. All RSR 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards to ensure the RSR’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 

The focus of risk management in the RSR is, therefore, on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the organisation. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the RSR endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The Board members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the Financial 
Statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or errors.

The Board successfully implemented a Financial Recovery Plan during the 2018/19 FY which resulted in a significant increase in 
net assets year-on-year. The Board has approved and reviewed the budget for the 2019/20 Financial Year and in light of this review 
and the current financial position are satisfied that the RSR has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.

Though the Board is primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the RSR, they are supported by the RSR’s Internal and External 
Auditors.

The External Auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the RSR’s Financial Statements. The Financial 
Statements have been examined by the RSR’s External Auditors and their report is presented on page 78-81.

The Financial Statements on page 82 to 122, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the members 
of the Board on 31 July 2019 and were signed on their behalf by:

____________________       ___________________________
Ms Tshepo Kgare        Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER     CHAIRPERSON:  RSR BOARD
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 Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of the Railway Safety 

Regulator set out on pages 82 to 122, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the 
statement of financial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets, cash flow statement and the statement of 
comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year that 
ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Railway Safety 
Regulator as at 31 March 2019, and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 
Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 
of 1999) (PFMA). 

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor-
general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of this auditor’s report. 

4. I am independent of the public entity in accordance with 
sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA code), parts 1 and 3 of the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) and the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I 
have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the IESBA codes.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of matter
6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not 

modified in respect of this matter.

Restatement of corresponding figures

7. As disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, the 
corresponding figures for 31 March 2018 were restated as 
a result of errors in the financial statements of the public 
entity at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2019.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the 
financial statements
8. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting 

authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the 
PFMA, and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

9. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the Railway Safety 
Regulator’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
appropriate governance structure either intends to liquidate 
the public entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
10. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

11. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is included in the annexure to this 
auditor’s report.

Report of the auditor-general to Parliament on the Railway Safety Regulator

Auditor-General’s Report
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Auditor-General’s Report

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope
12. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 

(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material 
findings on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected strategic outcomes 
presented in the annual performance report. I performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to 
express assurance.

13. My procedures address the reported performance 
information, which must be based on the approved 
performance planning documents of the public entity. I have 
not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the 
performance indicators included in the planning documents. 
My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or 
assertions relating to planned performance strategies 
and information in respect of future periods that may be 
included as part of the reported performance information. 
Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters. 

14. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information in accordance with the criteria 
developed from the performance management and 
reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for 
the following selected strategic outcomes presented in the 
annual performance report of the public entity for the year 
ended 31 March 2019:

Strategic outcome Pages in 
the annual 
performance 
report

Strategic outcome 1:  
Railways are safer

36 - 41

Strategic outcome 3:  
Improved stakeholder service

44 - 45

15. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported 
performance information was properly presented and 
whether performance was consistent with the approved 
performance planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators and related 
targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed 
the reliability of the reported performance information to 
determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete. 

16. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information for these 
strategic outcomes:

•	 Strategic outcome 1: Railways are safer
•	 Strategic outcome 3: Improved stakeholder service

Other matter
17. I draw attention to the matter below. 

Achievement of planned targets

18. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 36 to 45 
for information on the achievement of planned targets for the 
year and explanations provided for the over-achievement of 
a number of targets.

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope
19. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued 

in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material 
findings on the compliance of the public entity with specific 
matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify 
findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

20. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in 
key legislation are as follows:

Annual financial statements and annual reports

21. The financial statements submitted for auditing were 
not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial 
reporting framework, as required by section 55(1)(b) of the 
PFMA. Material misstatements of the cash flow statement 
and disclosure items identified by the auditors in the 
submitted financial statements were corrected, resulting 
in the financial statements receiving an unqualified audit 
opinion.

Procurement and contract management

22. Some goods and services with a transaction value below 
R500 000 were procured without obtaining the required 
price quotations, as required by treasury regulation 16A6.1.

23. Bid documentation for the procurement of commodities 
designated for local content and production, did not stipulate 
the minimum threshold for local production and content as 
required by preferential procurement regulation 8(2) of 2017.
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internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on 
compliance with legislation included in this report.

30. Senior management has made insufficient progress in 
implementing adequate measures and controls to prevent 
irregular expenditure and to monitor compliance with all 
supply chain management prescripts.  The oversight over 
the financial reporting discipline by senior management 
needs to be improved. 

 Other reports

31. I draw attention to the following engagement conducted by 
a party that had, or could have, an impact on the matters 
reported in the public entity’s financial statements, reported 
performance information, compliance with applicable 
legislation and other related matters. This report did not form 
part of my opinion on the financial statements or my findings 
on the reported performance information or compliance with 
legislation.

Investigation

32. The minister of Transport commissioned a forensic 
investigation by an independent firm into allegations of 
possible wrongdoing at the public entity. The investigation 
was completed and the final report issued on 25 July 2018.

 
Pretoria

31 July 2019

 

Expenditure management

24. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent 
irregular expenditure amounting to R1 022 006 as disclosed 
in note 28 to the Annual Financial Statements, as required by 
section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the irregular 
expenditure resulted from not obtaining three quotations and 
incurring expenditure above the 15% variation threshold.

Other information

25. The accounting authority is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report. The other information does 
not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report and 
those selected strategic outcomes presented in the annual 
performance report that have been specifically reported in 
this auditor’s report. 

26. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on 
the reported performance information and compliance 
with legislation do not cover the other information and I 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

27. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements and the selected strategic outcomes presented 
in the annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

28. If based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there 
is a material misstatement in this other information, I am 
required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this 
regard. 

 Internal control deficiencies

29. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 
financial statements, reported performance information 
and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my 
objective was not to express any form of assurance on 
it. The matter reported below is limited to the significant 

Auditor-General’s Report
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, 
and the procedures performed on reported performance 
information for selected strategic outcomes and on the 
public entity’s compliance with respect to the selected 
subject matters.

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial 

statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also: 
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the public entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the board of directors, 
which constitutes the accounting authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the board of 
directors, which constitutes the accounting authority’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements. I also 
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Railway Safety Regulator’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements about the material uncertainty or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on 
the financial statements. My conclusions are based 
on the information available to me at the date of this 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause a public entity to cease continuing as a 
going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation 

Communication with those charged with 
governance
3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to have 
a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
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      Statement of financial performance for the year ended  
       31 March 2019 

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Note(s) 2019  2018
    Restated1

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions
Safety permit fees1 10 164 048 051 150 428 777
Interest received 11     5 817 473     2 527 806
Other revenue 14     1 409 317     1 324 548
Technology audits  12     1 728 550   23 386 229
Technical awareness workshops                   1 547 550     1 837 640
Total revenue from exchange transactions               174 550 941 179 505 000

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Administration grant  13 63 018 000 87 864 000
Penalties1     6 000 000   5 271 333
Other income  394 106    894 148
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions                 69 412 106        94 029 481
Total revenue               243 963 047      273 534 481

Expenditure
Employee related costs 15 (155 563 889) (162 707 767)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment1    (23 278 849)   (11 519 819)
Loss on disposal of assets                      (77 714)        (323 559)
Finance costs     (3 856) (805 371)
Debt impairment1 16     7 876 794      (10 704 615)
General expenses 17 (53 427 148) (88 502 752)
Total expenditure (224 474 662) (274 563 883)
Surplus / (deficit) for the year     19 488 385     (1 029 402)
1  Refer to note 24 for prior year errors. 

 

       Statement of financial position at 31 March 2019

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Note(s) 2019  2018
    Restated1

Assets

Current Assets

Receivables1   3     6 791 363   2 658 081
Cash and cash equivalents   4    42 653 407 10 326 446

49 444 770 12 984 527

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment1     5 10 528 989 26 664 435

Intangible assets   6 3 242 786   7 038 023
 13 771 775 33 702 458

Total Assets 63 216 545 46 686 985

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation 7 15 259   11 415
Payables from exchange transactions  8 37 689 546 45 516 015
Provisions  9 6 826 513 1 907 197

44 531 318       47 434 627

Non-Current Liabilities

Finance lease obligation  7    - 55 516
Total Liabilities 44 531 318 47 490 143
Net Assets 18 685 227      (803 158)

1  Refer to note 24 for prior year errors. 
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      Statement of financial performance for the year ended  
       31 March 2019 

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Note(s) 2019  2018
    Restated1

Revenue

Revenue from exchange transactions
Safety permit fees1 10 164 048 051 150 428 777
Interest received 11     5 817 473     2 527 806
Other revenue 14     1 409 317     1 324 548
Technology audits  12     1 728 550   23 386 229
Technical awareness workshops                   1 547 550     1 837 640
Total revenue from exchange transactions               174 550 941 179 505 000

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Administration grant  13 63 018 000 87 864 000
Penalties1     6 000 000   5 271 333
Other income  394 106    894 148
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions                 69 412 106        94 029 481
Total revenue               243 963 047      273 534 481

Expenditure
Employee related costs 15 (155 563 889) (162 707 767)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment1    (23 278 849)   (11 519 819)
Loss on disposal of assets                      (77 714)        (323 559)
Finance costs     (3 856) (805 371)
Debt impairment1 16     7 876 794      (10 704 615)
General expenses 17 (53 427 148) (88 502 752)
Total expenditure (224 474 662) (274 563 883)
Surplus / (deficit) for the year     19 488 385     (1 029 402)
1  Refer to note 24 for prior year errors. 
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      Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 
 31 March 2019

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Note(s) Accumulated  
  surplus 

 Total net
assets 

Balance at 01 April 2017      226 244      226 244
Deficit for the year (1 029 402) (1 029 402) 
Total changes (1 029 402) (1 029 402)
Opening balance as previously reported      756 969      756 969
Correction of errors                                                                                                           24 (1 560 127)      (1 560 127)
Balance at 01 April 2018 as restated             (803 158)         (803 158)
Surplus for the year          19 488 385       19 488 385
Total changes          19 488 385       19 488 385
Balance at 31 March 2019                       18 685 227      18 685 227 
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2019

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Note(s) 2019 2018
    Restated1

Cash flows from operating activities                                                                                         

Revenue: permits, penalties, technology audit and technical workshop 178 164 674  181 170 140
Administration grant  63 018 000    77 864 000
Employee related costs    (151 309 097)    (162 419 295)
Suppliers                   (62 007 787)      (81 118 010)
Cash generated from operations   18           27 865 790        15 496 835

Interest income   5 817 473   2 527 806
Finance costs                  (3 856)          (805 371)
Net cash flows from operating activities                33 679 407  17 219 270 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (1 375 482)   (6 950 558)
Proceeds from sale of  asset 74 708          87 117
Net cash flows from investing activities          (1 300 774)  (6 863 441)

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease payments (51 672)           (329 423)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 32 326 961       10 026 406

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year             10 326 446  300 040 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 42 653 407       10 326 446
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   Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts

Budget is based on the cash basis method

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Approved   
Budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual  
amounts on  
comparable

basis

Difference  
between 

final    
budget and

actual

    
Note

  
Statement of Financial Performance 

Revenue                                                                        

Revenue from exchange transactions

Safety permit fees 161 700 000 - 161 700 000 157 788 990                  (3 911 010) 30

Application fees  6 127 500 -     6 127 500     6 259 061    131 561  

Interest received 1 755 833 -  1 755 833 5 817 473 4 061 640        30

Technical awareness workshops 2 673 000 -  2 673 000 1 547 550   (1 125 450) 30

Technology audits 12 300 000 -  12 300,000   1 728 550 (10 571 450)  30

Other revenue    - -                 - 1 409 317     1 409 317 30

Total revenue from exchange  
transactions 184 556 333 - 184 556 333 174 550 941 (10 005 392)
Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Administration grant 63 018 000 -  63 018 000 63 018 000                 -

Penalties     6 100 000 -          6,100,000      6 000 000  (100 000)
Other income   - - - 394 106    394 106 30
Total revenue from non- exchange 
transactions  69 118 000 -  69 118 000 69 412 106  294 106
Total revenue 253 674 333 - 253 674 333 243 963 047          (9 711 286)
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Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 Approved   
Budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual  
amounts on  
comparable

basis

Difference  
between final    
budget and

actual

    
Note

Expenditure

Employee related costs (161 477 653) 4 069 376    (157 408 277) (155 563 888) 1 844 389

Non - Executive directors  (3 037 300) 550 000        (2 487 300)         (2 354 216) 133 084
Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment  - - -       (23 278 849)  (23 278 849) 30

Loss on disposal of assets  - - -       (77 714) (77 714) 30

Finance costs  - - -    (3 856) (3 856)

Office rental (35 126 742)           18 580 695  (16 546 047) (11 290 586)  5 255 461 30

Lease payment - Vehicles  (4 052 969)   243 356  (3 809 613)   (3 919 797)   (110 184)
Bad debts written off   -   -   - 7 876 794  7 876 794 30
Repairs and maintenance      (85 000)   (462 800)   (547 800)   (398 670)   149 130 30

External audit fee      (2 200 000) (1 141 694)   (3 341 694)  (3 033 485) 308 209

Consulting and professional fees  (4 758 347)  (9 920 514)  (14 678 861) (15 448 348)  (769 487)

General expenses   (26 374 002)    (1 878 580)  (28 252 582)   (16 982 047)  11 270 535 30

Capital expenditure  (650 000) (10 039 839)  (10 689 839) - 10 689 839 30

Accruals 2017/18 FY   (15 912 320) -   (15 912 320) - 15 912 320 30

Total expenditure (253 674 333) - (253 674 333) (224 474 662)  29 199 671

Surplus  -  -  -   19 488 385 19 488 385
Actual amount on comparable
basis as presented in the
budget and actual comparative
statement

 -  -  -  19 488 385 19 488 385
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Accounting Policies 

1.  Presentation of Financial Statements 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in 
accordance with Section 55 of the Public Finance Management 
Act No.1 of 1999.

These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on an 
accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical 
cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified. 
They are presented in South African Rands.

In the absence of an issued and effective Standard of GRAP, 
accounting policies for material transactions, events or conditions 
were developed in accordance with paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of 
GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except 
when offsetting is either required or permitted by a Standard of
GRAP.

A summary of significant accounting policies, that have been 
consistently applied in the preparation of these Financial 
Statements, is disclosed below.

Comparative information

When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual 
Financial Statement is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are restated. The nature and reason for the 
reclassification are disclosed. Where the accounting errors 
have been identified in the current year, the correction is 
made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and prior-year 
comparatives are restated accordingly. Where there has been a 
change in accounting policy in the current year, the adjustment 
is made retrospectively as far as practicable, and the prior year 
comparatives are restated accordingly.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In preparing the Annual Financial Statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts presented in the Annual Financial Statements and 
related disclosures. Use of available information and application 
of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Significant 
judgements include the following:

Budget variance

A variance of 10 per cent or more between budget and actual 
amounts is regarded as material. All material differences are 
explained. 

Useful life assessment

In determining the useful life and residual values of each property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets, Management took 
into consideration the nature of each asset type and the usage 
of assets.

The accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1  Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
(including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or 
for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during 
more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:
• It is probable that future economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the item will flow to the RSR; and
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted to arrive at the cost.

When an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, 
its cost is fair value as at the date of acquisition.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in 
exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset 
acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, its deemed cost 
is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.
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Accounting Policies

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is de-recognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by Management.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual 
value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows: 

Item Depreciation method Average          useful           life

Furniture and fixtures Straight line     10 - 20 years
Motor vehicles Straight line     12 - 15 years
Office equipment Straight line     6 - 20 years
IT equipment Straight line     6 - 12 years
Leasehold improvements Straight line    5 years
Leased assets Straight line                                  3 - 6 years

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are expected 
to be consumed by the RSR. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if there  
has been a significant change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change is accounted for as a change in an accounting 
estimate.

At each reporting date, the RSR assesses whether there is any indication that its expectations about the residual value and the  
useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication exists, the RSR revises the expected 
useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are de-recognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the 
item is de-recognised. The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Assets which the RSR holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course of activities are 
transferred to inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale. Proceeds from the sale of these assets are 
recognised as revenue. All cash flows on these assets are included in cash flows from operating activities in the cash flow statement.
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The RSR separately discloses expenditure to repair and 
maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the 
Financial Statements.

The RSR discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development in the notes to the Financial 
Statements (see note 5).

1.2   Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it is either:
• Is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided 

from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or 
exchanged, either individually or together with a related 
contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of 
whether the entity intends to do so; or

• Arises from binding arrangements (including rights 
from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are 
transferable or separable from the RSR or from other rights 
and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers 
similar rights and obligations to the parties as if it were in the 
form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• It is probable that the expected future economic benefits or 

service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow 
to the RSR; and

• The cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The RSR assesses the probability of expected future economic 
benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable 
assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the 
set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of 
the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured 
at its fair value as at that date.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. 
An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
• It is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will 

be available for use or sale.
• There is an intention to complete and use or sell it. 
• There is an ability to use or sell it.
• It will generate probable future economic benefits or service 

potential.
• There are available technical, financial and other resources 

to complete the development and to use or sell the asset; 
and

• The expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life 
when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit 
to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net 
cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided 
for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. For all other intangible assets, amortisation is 
provided on a straight-line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. As a result, the asset is tested for 
impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised 
over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised 
as intangible assets.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an intangible 
asset.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on 
a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item                                                  Depreciation                      Average  useful         
    method    life
Computer software         Straight line                3- 5 years

The RSR discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development, in the notes to the Financial 
Statements (see note 6).

1.3   Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest 
of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is 
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus 
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the 

Accounting Policies
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maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation.

Derecognition is the-removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an RSR’s statement of financial 
position.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is: 
• cash;
• Residual interest of another entity; or
• A contractual right to:

- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable  
             to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to: 
• Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by the RSR in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term payables on normal credit terms.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due. 

Initial recognition

The RSR recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. The RSR recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The RSR measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. The RSR measures a financial asset and financial liability initially 
at its fair value.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The RSR measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition amortised. All financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review. 

Gains and losses

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when 
the financial asset or financial liability is de-recognised or impaired, or through the amortisation process.

Accounting Policies
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Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

The RSR assess at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets are impaired.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 
assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced directly or through the use of an allowance account. 
The amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed directly or by 
adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not result in 
a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount 
of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

1.4   Taxation

Income Tax

The RSR has obtained income tax exemption from the 
Commissioner of the South African Revenue Services under 
Section10(i) (cA) (1) of the Income Tax Act, 1962 as amended.

Value Added Tax

The RSR is exempt from the Value Added Tax.

1.5   Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, an 
entity assesses the classification of each element separately.
 
 

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a 
finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the 
minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of on the remaining balance 
of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they 
are incurred.

The present value of the lease is considered to amount to 
“substantially all of the fair value” when it exceeds 95% of the 
fair value of the leased assets.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.6   Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of 
generating a commercial return. A commercial return means 
positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than 
the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service 
potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential through depreciation (amortisation).

The carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting 
any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of 
assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.

Accounting Policies



Railway Safety Regulator Annual Report  2018/19

93  

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to 
the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income 
tax expense.

Depreciation (amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the 
depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from 
the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Useful life is either:
• The period of time over which an asset is expected  

 to be used by the RSR; or
• The number of production or similar units expected  

 to be obtained from the asset by the RSR.

Judgements made by management in applying the criteria to 
designate assets as cash-generating assets or non-cash- 
generating assets, are as follows:

1.7   Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of 
generating a commercial return. Commercial return means that 
positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than 
the cost of the asset.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-
generating assets.
 
Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service 
potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised 
in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses 
thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets 
managed with the objective of generating a commercial return 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to 
the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income 
tax expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the 
depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from 
the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.
Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-
generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. 

Useful life is either:
• The period of time over which an asset is expected to be 

used by the RSR; or
• The number of production or similar units expected to be 

obtained from the asset by the RSR.

Judgements made by management in applying the criteria to 
designate assets as non-cash-generating assets or cash- 
generating assets, are as follows:

Identification

When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset 
exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

At each reporting date, the RSR assesses whether there is any 
indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, the RSR estimates the recoverable 
service amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the 
entity also tests a non-cash-generating intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset 
not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing 
its carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This 
impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If 
an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current 
reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment 
before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

The value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present 
value of the non-cash-generating assets remaining service 
potential.

The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-
cash-generating assets is determined using the following 
approach:
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Recognition and measurement
If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating 
asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This 
reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or 
deficit.

Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is 
treated as a revaluation decrease.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater 
than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to 
which it relates, the RSR recognises a liability only to the extent 
that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation 
(amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Reversal of an impairment loss
The RSR assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the RSR estimates the 
recoverable service amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash 
generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment 
loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to 
a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or 
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash generating asset 
is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. Any reversal of 
an impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is 
treated as a revaluation increase.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash generating 

asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash 
generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual 
value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful 
life.

18. Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) that are due to be settled within 12 moths 
after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as: 
• Wages, salaries and social security contributions;
• Short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual 

leave and paid sick leave) for which the compensation for 
the absences are due to be settled within 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related employee service;

• Bonus, incentive and performance-related payments 
payable within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service; 
and

• Non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and 
free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars 
and cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a 
reporting period, the RSR recognise the undiscounted amount of 
short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange 
for that service:
• As a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 

amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds 
the undiscounted amount of the benefits, the RSR 
recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to 
the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a 
reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

• As an expense, unless another Standard requires or 
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised 
as an expense because the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating 
absences, when the absence occurs. The RSR measure the 
expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the 
additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the 
unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.
The RSR recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and 
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performance-related payments when the RSR has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a 
result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation 
can be made. A present obligation exists when the RSR has no 
realistic alternative but to make the payments.

1.9   Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the RSR has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits or service potential will be required to 
settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received if the RSR settles 
the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate 
asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does not 
exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle 
the obligation.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision 
was originally recognised. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating deficits.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 
Contingencies are disclosed in note 20.

Where a fee is received by the RSR for issuing a financial 
guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan commitments, 
it is considered in determining the best estimate of the amount 
required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. Where a fee 
is charged and the RSR considers that an outflow of economic 
resources are probable, the RSR recognises the obligation at 
the higher of:

• the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; 
and

• the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from 
Exchange Transactions.

1.10 Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows result 
in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to 
contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the RSR receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, 
services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

Revenue comprises of:

Safety permit application and permit fee
Revenue arising from permit fees as published in the 
Government Gazette by the Minister of Transport on an annual 
basis is recognised on an accrual basis when the economic 
benefit is probable. This is presented in the statement of financial 
performance.

Technical awareness workshops
Revenue from technical awareness workshops is recognised 
when candidates register for technical awareness workshops.

Interest received
Interest received comprises interest charged on operators’ late 
payments and favourable bank balances. Interest income is 
recognised using the effective interest rate.

Technology audits
The RSR conducts technology audits and recovers costs in 
accordance with section 17(1) (bB) of the National Railway 
Safety Regulator Act No. 16 of 2002, as amended.
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When the outcome of the technology review transaction can 
be estimated reliably, revenue will be recognised by reference 
to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date. Stage of completion will be determined using the life cycle 
phases as indicated in the published Gazette.

1.11 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions where 
RSR receives value from another entity without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange. Revenue from non-
exchange transaction is generally recognised to the extent that 
the related receipt or receivable qualifies for recognition as an 
asset and there is no liability to repay the amount. Revenue 
from administration grant is considered to be revenue from non-
exchange transactions.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions is recognised when 
there is reasonable assurance that the amount will be received 
and the value thereof can be reliably measured.

Fines and penalties

Revenue from fines and penalties is recognised when:
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to RSR; and
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

This comprises of revenue arising from penalties charged as a 
result of the failure by operators to comply with any provisions 
of the National Railway Safety Regulator Act of 2002, (Act No. 
16 of 2002) as amended, the regulations and the standards that 
inhibit or prevent the Regulator’s ability to perform its mandate.
 
Unconditional grant

Government grants are recognised as revenue when:
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to RSR; 
• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably; and
• To the extent that there has been compliance with any 

restrictions associated with the grant.

The RSR recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the 
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy 
the criteria for recognition as an asset. Transferred assets are 
measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

To the extent that an asset has not been recognised, a deferred 
income will be recognised as a liability. The deferred income will 
be transferred to revenue as and when the conditions attached 
to the grant are satisfied.

1.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an 
entity in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

1.13 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in 
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for 
as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.14 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is 
expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement 
of any applicable legislation, including -

(a) This Act; or
(b) The State Tender Board Act, No. 86 of 1968, or any 

regulations made in terms of the Act; or
(c) Any provincial legislation providing for procurement 

procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury instruction note 1 of 2018/19 and instruction  
note 2 of 2019/20 effective from 17 May 2019 which was issued 
in terms of sections 76(2)(e) to 76(4)(a) of the PFMA.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous 
financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year, 
the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements 
must be updated with the amount condoned.
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Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the 
current financial year and that was not condoned by the National 
Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately 
in the irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular 
expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account 
must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate 
steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the 
person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting 
officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt 
impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial 
statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be 
updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been 
condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related 
must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, 
be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and 
updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.15 Budget information

Entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of 
appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which 
is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or 
similar.

General-purpose financial reporting by the RSR shall provide 
information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on a cash basis and presented 
by functional classification linked to performance outcome 
objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 1 April 2018 
to 31 March 2019.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities 
approved budgets under its control.

The financial statements and the budget are not on the same 
basis of accounting, therefore, a comparison with the budgeted 
amounts for the reporting period have been included in the 
statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

1.16 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control 
or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant influence 

over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to 
common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity 
by a binding arrangement, and exists only when the strategic 
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require 
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control (the 
venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services 
or obligations between the reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of an entity, but is not control over 
those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the RSR, including 
those charged with the governance of the RSR in accordance 
with legislation, in instances that require them to perform such 
functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be 
those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by management in their dealings with the RSR.

The RSR is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation 
to related party transactions if that transaction occurs within 
normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms 
and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is 
reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted when dealing 
with that individual entity or person in the same circumstances. 
The terms conditions must also be within the normal operating 
parameters established by that reporting entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in accordance 
with the above, the entity discloses narrative information about 
the nature of the transactions and the related outstanding 
balances, to enable users of the entity’s financial statements to 
understand the effect of related party transactions on its financial 
statements.
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

2. New standards and interpretations
2.1        Standards issued but not yet effective

The RSR has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the RSR’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2019 or later periods:

• GRAP 20:   Related party disclosures    01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 32:   Service concession arrangements   01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 34:   Separate financial statements                 01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 35:   Consolidated financial statements   01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 36:   Investments in associates and joint ventures  01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 37:   Joint arrangements      01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 38:   Disclosure of interest in other entities                 01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 108: Statutory receivables      01 April 2019 Material impact
• GRAP 109: Accounting principles and agents    01 April 2019 No material impact
• GRAP 110: Living and non-living resources    01 April 2019 No material impact

3.       Receivables     
Receivables from exchange transactions

 

Trade debtors  1 585 386 12 209 385
Prepayments  801 323 366 561
Deposits 168 246 40 950
Staff debt 20 258 60 880
Impairment allowance (283 850) (10 019 695)

2 291 363 2 658 081

Receivables from non- exchange transactions
  

Trade debtors (Penalties) 4 500 000 -

Total receivables 6 791 363 2 658 081

Trade and other receivables - Due but not impaired
RSR does not have collateral held against this amounts

0 to 30 3 452 239 1 163 263
31 to 60 days 14 873 755 402
61 to 90 days - 22 863
Over 90 days 2 334 424 248 163

5 801 536 2 189 691

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018
               
               Trade and other receivables - Due but not impaired
               These amounts were impaired because they are overdue. RSR does not have collateral held against these amounts

0 to 30 - 842 650
0 to 30 days - 32 000
61 to 90 days 15 000 -
Over 91 days 268 850 9 145 045

283 850 10 019 695

 Reconciliation of allowance for impairment:
Opening balance        (10 019 695) -
Current year (283 850) (15 619 695) 
Correction of prior year error -    5 600 000
Reversal of impairment 10 019 695 -
Closing balance (283 850) (10 019 695)

                                                                                                                                                     
 4.      Cash and cash equivalents          
                                                                                      
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 4 917 4 940
Bank balances 2 677 077 10 298 766
Short-term deposits 39 971 413 22 740

42 653 407 10 326 446

5.      Property, plant and equipment - 2019

     2019      2018
Cost/ 

valuation  
 Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Furniture and fixtures 5 302 564 (2 219 401) 3 083 163 5 323 160 (2 011 247) 3,311,913
Motor vehicles 165 239 (164 051) 1 188 165 239 (152 585) 12 654
Office equipment 856 033 (472 422) 383 611 856 974 (447 927) 409 047
IT equipment 7 278 661 (4 356 327) 2 922 334 6 092 302 (3 661 878) 2 430 424
Leasehold improvements 33 854 406 (29 991 370) 3 863 036 25 150 967 (11 800 993) 13 349 974
Leased assets 957 457 (681 800) 275 657 794 494 (594 629) 199 865
Work in progress- 
Leasehold improvements

- - - 6 950 558 - 6 950 558

Total 48 414 360 (37 885 371) 10 528 989 45 333 694 (18 669 259) 26 664 435
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018
               
               Trade and other receivables - Due but not impaired
               These amounts were impaired because they are overdue. RSR does not have collateral held against these amounts

0 to 30 - 842 650
0 to 30 days - 32 000
61 to 90 days 15 000 -
Over 91 days 268 850 9 145 045

283 850 10 019 695

 Reconciliation of allowance for impairment:
Opening balance        (10 019 695) -
Current year (283 850) (15 619 695) 
Correction of prior year error -    5 600 000
Reversal of impairment 10 019 695 -
Closing balance (283 850) (10 019 695)

                                                                                                                                                     
 4.      Cash and cash equivalents          
                                                                                      
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 4 917 4 940
Bank balances 2 677 077 10 298 766
Short-term deposits 39 971 413 22 740

42 653 407 10 326 446

5.      Property, plant and equipment - 2019

     2019      2018
Cost/ 

valuation  
 Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Furniture and fixtures 5 302 564 (2 219 401) 3 083 163 5 323 160 (2 011 247) 3,311,913
Motor vehicles 165 239 (164 051) 1 188 165 239 (152 585) 12 654
Office equipment 856 033 (472 422) 383 611 856 974 (447 927) 409 047
IT equipment 7 278 661 (4 356 327) 2 922 334 6 092 302 (3 661 878) 2 430 424
Leasehold improvements 33 854 406 (29 991 370) 3 863 036 25 150 967 (11 800 993) 13 349 974
Leased assets 957 457 (681 800) 275 657 794 494 (594 629) 199 865
Work in progress- 
Leasehold improvements

- - - 6 950 558 - 6 950 558

Total 48 414 360 (37 885 371) 10 528 989 45 333 694 (18 669 259) 26 664 435
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019

Opening
balance 

Additions Useful life
increase 

Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 3 311 913 - 1 704 (9 820) - (220 634) 3 083 163
Motor vehicles 12 654 - - - - (11 466) 1 188
Office equipment 409 047 46 330 14 634 (7 579) - (78 821) 383 611
IT equipment 2 430 424 1 329 152 18 433 (51 926) - (803 749) 2 922 334
Leasehold improvements 13 349 974 - - - 8 703 440 (18 190 378) 3 863 036
Finance leases 199 865 - 251 965 (8 389) - (167 784) 275 657
Work in progress-
Leasehold improvements 6 950 558 1 752 882 - - (8 703 440) - -

26 664 435 3 128 364 286 736 (77 714) - (19 472 832) 10 528 989

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018        
  

Opening
balance 

Additions Useful life
increase 

Disposals Depreciation Impairment Total

Furniture and fixtures 4 142 923 73 158 - (92 633) (294 229) (517 306) 3 311 913
Motor vehicles 26 259 - - - (13 605) - 12 654
Office equipment 492 082 4 600 3 190 (8 190) (82 581) (54) 409 047
IT equipment 3 461 449 - 40 136 (193 363) (877 798) - 2 430 424
Leasehold improvements 17 932 632 958 974 - - (5 541 632) - 13 349 974
Finance leases 460 461 36 774 - (32 363) (265 007) - 199 865
Work in progress- 
Leasehold improvements 56 397 6 894 161 - - - - 6 950 558

26 572 203 7 967 667 43 326 (326 549) (7 074 852) (517 360) 26 664 435

The recoverable service amount for impairment loss calculation was based on the fair value less cost to sell. The fair value less cost 
to sell was zero due to the fact that upon requesting quotations, there were no interested buyers.

6.   Intangible assets

     2019      2018
Cost/ 

valuation  
 Accumulated
amortisation 

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated
amortisation 

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Computer software 19 615 865 (16 373 079) 3 242 786 19 615 865 (12 577 842) 7 038 023

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019

 Opening
 Balance 

Additions Disposals  Amortisation Total

Computer software 7 038 023 - - (3 795 237) 3 242 786

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

 Opening
 Balance 

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software 10 965 630 - 3 (3 927 610) 7 038 023

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018
                                                                                     
7.      Finance lease obligation
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 15 259   41 476
- in second to fifth year inclusive          -   11 760
                                                                                                                                                                            15 259   53 236
less: future finance charges          -              (2 957)
Present value of minimum lease payments 15 259  50 279
Non-current liabilities          -  55 516

Current liabilities 15 259 11 415

                                                                                                                                                                            15 259 66 931

8.     Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables                                                                                                                                             11 760 833       20 180 353
Revenue received in advance    7 831 330  9 025 092
Accrued leave pay    5 026 570  5 358 742
Other  payables and accruals 12 853 575  6 254 659
Operating lease payables1                -  4 147 579
13th cheque accrual     217 238     549 590  
                                                                                                                                                                      37 698 546      45 516 015
1  This liability relates to the smoothing of the operating lease rentals in respect of the regional office lease. This liability was
   de-recognised as a result of the cancellation of the regional office lease during the year.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements



Railway Safety Regulator Annual Report  2018/19

101  

6.   Intangible assets

     2019      2018
Cost/ 

valuation  
 Accumulated
amortisation 

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Cost / 
Valuation 

Accumulated
amortisation 

and
accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
value

Computer software 19 615 865 (16 373 079) 3 242 786 19 615 865 (12 577 842) 7 038 023

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019

 Opening
 Balance 

Additions Disposals  Amortisation Total

Computer software 7 038 023 - - (3 795 237) 3 242 786

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

 Opening
 Balance 

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software 10 965 630 - 3 (3 927 610) 7 038 023

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018
                                                                                     
7.      Finance lease obligation
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 15 259   41 476
- in second to fifth year inclusive          -   11 760
                                                                                                                                                                            15 259   53 236
less: future finance charges          -              (2 957)
Present value of minimum lease payments 15 259  50 279
Non-current liabilities          -  55 516

Current liabilities 15 259 11 415

                                                                                                                                                                            15 259 66 931

8.     Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables                                                                                                                                             11 760 833       20 180 353
Revenue received in advance    7 831 330  9 025 092
Accrued leave pay    5 026 570  5 358 742
Other  payables and accruals 12 853 575  6 254 659
Operating lease payables1                -  4 147 579
13th cheque accrual     217 238     549 590  
                                                                                                                                                                      37 698 546      45 516 015
1  This liability relates to the smoothing of the operating lease rentals in respect of the regional office lease. This liability was
   de-recognised as a result of the cancellation of the regional office lease during the year.
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

Analysis of trade and other payables    

0 to 30 days    6 071 101       17 497 420
31 to 60 days       62 868     895 157
61 to 90 days        68 511     422 948
Over 90 days                                                                                                                                                   5 558 353  1 364 828   
                                                                                                                                                                      11 760 833      20 180 353 

9.      Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions - 2019

Opening
 Balance

Additions Utilised
during the year

Reversed
during the year

Total

Performance bonuses - 6 826 513 - - 6 826 513
Provisions for back pay 1 907 197 - - (1 907 197) -

1 907 197 6 826 513 - (1 907 197) 6 826 513
                                                  
Performance bonus payments are expected in the 2019/20 FY of which the exact amount is uncertain due to outstanding moderation 
and final approval.

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018      

Opening
 Balance

Additions Reversed 
during the year

Total

Performance bonus   2 332 189 - (2 332 189) -
Provision for back pay - 1 907 197 - 1 907 197

2 332 189 1 907 197 (2 332 189) 1 907 197

10.     Safety permit fees

Safety permit fees 157 788 990 144 537 432
Application fees     6 259 061     5 891 345
                                                                                                                                                                  164 048 051 150 428 777

11.     Interest received

Interest earned on bank balance 5 811 333 2 096 959
Interest earned on debtor’s balance       6 140    430 847
                                                                                                                                                                       5 817 473 2 527 806
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

12.     Technology audits

Technology audits 1 456 650 22 767 929
Application fees - technology audits 271 900 618 300

1 728 550 23 386 229

13.     Administration grant

Administration grant 63 018 000 59 564 000
Increased operational grant - 24 300 000
Additional operational grant (investigations) - 4 000 000

63 018 000 87 864 000

14.     Other income

EPWP 1 311 000 1 324 548
Bad debts recovered 98 317 -

1 409 317 1 324 548

15.    Employee related costs 

Salaries 86 352 882 93 363 157
Performance bonus 6 826 513 -
Medical aid - company contributions 6 918 219 7 503 556
Unemployment insurance fund 626 254 712 414
Union fees 111 385 56 633
Leave pay provision charge (332 172) 711 337
Pension fund contributions 14 462 009 16 341 812
Leave paid out 1 228 249 235 159
13th cheque 686 702 1 208 990
Acting allowances 1 147 440 235 835
South African Revenue Service 37 536 408 42 338 874

155 563 889 162 707 767

16.     Debt impairment

Allowance for impairment1 (9 729 845) 10 019 695
Bad debts written off 1 853 051 684 920

(7 876 794) 10 704 615
1  An allowance for impairment relates to current year impairment provision for long outstanding debtors and reversal of prior year  
  impairment loss (R10 million). 
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018
                                                                                                                                           
17.    General expenses

External audit fees 3 033 485 2 140 223
Railway safety outreach and awareness 1 583 144 7 545 728
Bank charges 81 409 83 597
Cleaning 249 720 41 552
Computer expenses 1 441 903 1 385 415
Postage and couriers 52 228 104 227
Catering - refreshments 375 068 364 631
Gifts 7 941 5 990
Insurance 228 338 212 584
Conferences and seminars 1 185 746 2 591 322
Placement fees - 321 740
Printing and stationery 314 600 120 585
Protective clothing 40 750 381 269
Repairs and maintenance 398 670 97 139
Subscriptions and membership fees 243 658 332 540
Telephone and data 4 220 949 5 768 251
Training 206 005 1 489 037
Travel - local 3 452 500 4 005 887
Travel - international 291 274 2 743 311
Municipal services 1 815 640 1 924 896
Lease payment vehicle 3 919 797 4 463 243
Equipment rentals 445 000 11 668
Corporate stationery 168 871 209 885
Office rental and services 11 290 586 27 554 709
Workmen’s compensation 234 776 213 197
Affiliation Fees - 21 234
Library & literature 217 808 349 554
Non - executive directors remuneration 2 354 216 2 419 350
Professional fees 15 448 348 21 278 777
Relocation cost 124 718 321 211

53 427 148 88 502 752

Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

18.     Cash generated from operations

Surplus (deficit) 
Adjustments for: 

19 488 385 (1 029 402)

Depreciation and amortisation 23 278 849 11 519 819
Proceeds from sale of assets (74 708) (87 117)
Loss on disposal of assets 77 714 323 559
Interest income (5 817 473) (2 527 806)
Finance costs 3 856 805 371
Changes in working capital:
Receivables from exchange and non exchange transactions (4 133 282) 8 173 439
Payables from exchange transaction (4 957 551) (1 681 028)

27 865 790 15 496 835

19.     Commitments

Approved and contracted for
Capital commitments
Property, plant and equipment 8 839 839 - 
Intangible assets    611 104 -

9 450 943 -

 Operational commitments           

General expenditure 8 447 001 16 647 645
Total approved and contracted for 17 897 945 16 647 645

Approved and not yet contracted for:

Office Rental 239 121 452 -
239 121 452 -

RSR will utilise its own resources to fund the commitments for the 2018/19 FY through available cash resources at year- end and the 
approved 2019/20 budget.
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

18.     Cash generated from operations

Surplus (deficit) 
Adjustments for: 

19 488 385 (1 029 402)

Depreciation and amortisation 23 278 849 11 519 819
Proceeds from sale of assets (74 708) (87 117)
Loss on disposal of assets 77 714 323 559
Interest income (5 817 473) (2 527 806)
Finance costs 3 856 805 371
Changes in working capital:
Receivables from exchange and non exchange transactions (4 133 282) 8 173 439
Payables from exchange transaction (4 957 551) (1 681 028)

27 865 790 15 496 835

19.     Commitments

Approved and contracted for
Capital commitments
Property, plant and equipment 8 839 839 - 
Intangible assets    611 104 -

9 450 943 -

 Operational commitments           

General expenditure 8 447 001 16 647 645
Total approved and contracted for 17 897 945 16 647 645

Approved and not yet contracted for:

Office Rental 239 121 452 -
239 121 452 -

RSR will utilise its own resources to fund the commitments for the 2018/19 FY through available cash resources at year- end and the 
approved 2019/20 budget.
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

Operating leases - as lessee expenses 
Minimum lease payments due

- within one year
Building - Centurion 1 836 591 3 673 182
Building - Furniture and ICT equipment - Cape Town1 520 552 5 998 316
Building - Furniture and ICT equipment - Durban1 347 116 11 115 620
Building - Gauteng1 612 410 13 295 411
Building - Port Elizabeth2 - 182 724
Vehicle - Fleet1 - 3 251 465
- in second to fifth year inclusive  
Building - Centurion - 1 836 591
Building - Furniture and ICT equipment - Cape Town1 - 16 739 979
Building - Furniture and ICT equipment - Durban1 - 31 021 246
Building - Gauteng1 - 61 272 155
Building - Port Elizabeth2 - 15 227
Vehicle - Fleet1 - 1 083 822

3 316 669 149 485 738

1 Lease was cancelled during the year due to non performance. The fleet lease was cancelled to give effect to the Financial 
Recovery Plan which aimed at reducing operational expenses.   

2 Lease has come to an end. 

20.      Contingencies

              1. Termination of employee contract
Following the termination of the contract of employment of a former employee, the party referred the dispute to the CCMA for unfair 
dismissal and requested reinstatement. The matter is still ongoing. In the unlikely event that the employee is successful a possible 
settlement is estimated at an amount of R412 970.

2. Job grading liabilities
Matters regarding the implementation of job grading was heard at the CCMA and were not in favour of a retrospective payment 
relating to the implementation of a re grading process. However, the CCMA ordered compensation for one of the matters. A similar 
matter has been heard before the CCMA and the compensation order is currently at the labour court. This may result in a possible 
obligation but will only be confirmed by the labour court. The obligation for both matters is estimated at R1 million.

3. Unfair labour practice
This matter relates to an alleged unfair labour practice in respect of benefits, more especially car allowances. The matter is still being 
heard and the outcome is uncertain. The claimant prospects are low, however, should the matter settle the financial implication is 
estimated at R243 500.

4. Full Facilities Management vs RSR
On 14 June 2018, the RSR terminated the contract for facilities management for several reasons, including concerns regarding the 
non-delivery of services in line with the contract. The matter has proceeded to arbitration and the parties have exchanged pleadings. 
Depending on the proceedings, the RSR may face a possible obligation to pay claims from the service provider should the matter 
settle before the arbitrator. The RSR is likely to be exposed to a liability in the amount of R23 million as the claim against the RSR 
amounts to R31 million and the RSR’s intention to recover fruitless and wasteful expenditure amounts to R8 million.

21.   Related parties
Relationships
Executive authority                                            Honourable Minister of Transport: Dr BE Nzimande (MP)
Controlling   entity                                              National Department of Transport
Members of key management                           Mr Nkululeko Poya - Chief Executive Officer 1 
                                                                           Ms Tshepo Kgare - Acting CEO
                                                                           Mr Samuel Nxazonke - Executive Manager Corporate Affairs 2

                                                                           Mr Isaac Shai - Executive Manager Legal3

                                                                           Mr Solly Kekana - Executive Manager Occurrence Investigations2

                                                                           Ms Renaire Huntley - Executive Manager Organisational Intelligence and Planning 2

                                                                           Mr Regardt Gouws - Chief Financial Officer
                                                                           Mr Hulisani Murovhi - Company Secretary
                                                                           Ms Maria Kekana - Acting Chief Audit Executive
                                                                           Mr Herman Bruwer - Acting Executive Manager Office of the Chief Executive Officer
                                                                           Mr Mmuso Selaledi - Chief Risk Officer
                                                                           Mr Joseph Nethathe - Acting Chief Operation Officer
                                                                           Mr Thanduxolo Fumbata - Chief Operations Officer 3

1 On precautionary suspension, subsequently resigned on 6 June 2019 
2 Employment terminated
3 Resigned
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20.      Contingencies

              1. Termination of employee contract
Following the termination of the contract of employment of a former employee, the party referred the dispute to the CCMA for unfair 
dismissal and requested reinstatement. The matter is still ongoing. In the unlikely event that the employee is successful a possible 
settlement is estimated at an amount of R412 970.

2. Job grading liabilities
Matters regarding the implementation of job grading was heard at the CCMA and were not in favour of a retrospective payment 
relating to the implementation of a re grading process. However, the CCMA ordered compensation for one of the matters. A similar 
matter has been heard before the CCMA and the compensation order is currently at the labour court. This may result in a possible 
obligation but will only be confirmed by the labour court. The obligation for both matters is estimated at R1 million.

3. Unfair labour practice
This matter relates to an alleged unfair labour practice in respect of benefits, more especially car allowances. The matter is still being 
heard and the outcome is uncertain. The claimant prospects are low, however, should the matter settle the financial implication is 
estimated at R243 500.

4. Full Facilities Management vs RSR
On 14 June 2018, the RSR terminated the contract for facilities management for several reasons, including concerns regarding the 
non-delivery of services in line with the contract. The matter has proceeded to arbitration and the parties have exchanged pleadings. 
Depending on the proceedings, the RSR may face a possible obligation to pay claims from the service provider should the matter 
settle before the arbitrator. The RSR is likely to be exposed to a liability in the amount of R23 million as the claim against the RSR 
amounts to R31 million and the RSR’s intention to recover fruitless and wasteful expenditure amounts to R8 million.

21.   Related parties
Relationships
Executive authority                                            Honourable Minister of Transport: Dr BE Nzimande (MP)
Controlling   entity                                              National Department of Transport
Members of key management                           Mr Nkululeko Poya - Chief Executive Officer 1 
                                                                           Ms Tshepo Kgare - Acting CEO
                                                                           Mr Samuel Nxazonke - Executive Manager Corporate Affairs 2

                                                                           Mr Isaac Shai - Executive Manager Legal3

                                                                           Mr Solly Kekana - Executive Manager Occurrence Investigations2

                                                                           Ms Renaire Huntley - Executive Manager Organisational Intelligence and Planning 2

                                                                           Mr Regardt Gouws - Chief Financial Officer
                                                                           Mr Hulisani Murovhi - Company Secretary
                                                                           Ms Maria Kekana - Acting Chief Audit Executive
                                                                           Mr Herman Bruwer - Acting Executive Manager Office of the Chief Executive Officer
                                                                           Mr Mmuso Selaledi - Chief Risk Officer
                                                                           Mr Joseph Nethathe - Acting Chief Operation Officer
                                                                           Mr Thanduxolo Fumbata - Chief Operations Officer 3

1 On precautionary suspension, subsequently resigned on 6 June 2019 
2 Employment terminated
3 Resigned
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

Related party balances
National Department of Transport

Administration grant 63 018 000 87 864 000
PRASA
Permit fees 29 491 462 27 872 508
Technology audits 132 600 8 982 163
Technical awareness workshops - 137 900
Penalties1 4 500 000 5 000 000
Annual Rail Safety Conference (ARSC) - 50 000 

1This has been restated, refer to note 24 for prior year errors. 

Amounts owed by key management Opening
 Balance

Loans repaid Closing 
balance

Mr N Poya1 2 309 - 2 309
Mr S Nxazonke 2 058 (2 058) -

4 367 (2 058) 2 309
1Recoveries for personal expenses incurred.
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Remuneration of management 

Executive management 
  
2019

Name Basic Salary Medical aid  and 
pension

Allowance Total

Mr N A Poya - Chief Executive Officer1 3 466 245 144 825 - 3 611 070

Ms T Kgare - Acting Chief Executive Officer 2 647 775 75 546 840 2 724 161

Mr Joseph Nethathe - Acting Chief Operating 
Officer 1 612 343 - 5 153 1 617 496

Mr S Kekana - Executive Manager: Occurrence and 
Investigation3 1 174 427 267,805 120 000 1 562 232

Mr R Gouws - Chief Financial Officer 1 450 481 203 181 240 1 653 902

Mr I Shai - Executive Manager: Legal2 777 009 140 448 - 917 457

Mr S Nxazonke - Executive Manager: Corporate 
Affairs3 851 325 76 506 - 927 831

Ms RS Huntley - Executive Manager: 
Organizational Intelligence and Planning3 1 552 487 314 582 120 1 867 189

Mr H Murovhi - Company Secretary 1 607 195 65 292 - 1 672 487

Mr TH Fumbata - Chief Operating Officer2 1 659 372 37 540 - 1 696 912

Ms M Kekana - Acting Chief Audit Executive 1 225 838 350 467 - 1 576 305

Mr B Bruwer - Acting Executive Manager: Office of 
the Chief Executive Officer 1 421 881 - - 1 421 881

Mr M Selaledi - Chief Risk Officer 1 247 091 174 655 - 1 421 746

20 693 469 1 850 847 126 353 22 670 669

   1   On precautionary suspension effective 27 November 2017, subsequently resigned on 6 June 2019
   2   Resigned
   3   Dismissed
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2018

Name Basic Salary Medical aid  
and pension

Allowance Total

Mr N A Poya - Chief Executive Officer1 3 522 993 86 292 174 243 3 783 528

Ms T Kgare - Executive Manager OIP2 1 277 689 26 122 - 1 303 811

Mr Solly Kekana - Executive Manager: 
Occurrence and Investigation 

1 460 444 181 658 136 540 1 778 642

Mr R Gouws - Chief Financial Officer3 1 396 112 118 109 120 1 514 341

Mr I Shai - Executive Manager: Legal 1 903 884 209 608 - 2 113 492

Mr S Nxazonke - Executive Manager: Corporate 
Affairs

2 067 625 93 628 1 320 2 162 573

Ms RS Huntley - Executive Manager: 
Organizational Intelligence and Planning

1 748 649 194 737 5 110 1 948 496

Mr H Murovhi - Company Secretary 1 660 805 32 246 - 1 693 051

Mr O Masogo - Chief Audit Executive4 866 993 103 771 - 970 764

Mr TH Fumbata - Chief Operating Officer 1 908 512 54 365 123 204 2 086 081

Ms M Kekana - Acting Chief Audit Executive5 1 356 432 215 861 600 1 572 893

Mr B Bruwer - Acting Executive Manager: Office of 
the Chief Executive Officer6

1 420 097 - - 1 420 097

Mr M Selaledi - Chief Risk Officer 1 309 727 110,234 480 1 420 441

21 899 962 1 426 631 441 617 23 768 210

1 On precautionary suspension effective 27 November 2017
2 Acting CEO from 30 November 2017 and was on unpaid leave for six months
3 Appointed on 1 May 2017
4 Resigned in November 2017
5 Appointed Acting Chief Audit Executive from 6 December 2017
6 Appointed Acting Executive Manager: Office of the Chief Executive Office on 6 December 2017
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22.  Related parties - Board members

Board members
2019
                           

Name   Emoluments    Allowances      Total

Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta (Chairperson) 282 397 18 710 301 107
Mr Boy Jones Nobunga (Deputy Chairperson) 152 981                          55 615 208 596
Mr Jan-David de Villiers1 -              -            -
Mr Christian Johan de Vos                                                                                          262 964              22 174            285 138
Mr Andre Harrison                                                                                                       292 717              12 982 305 699
Mr Ngwako Makaepea1 - - -
Major General Michael Monash Motlhala3 - - -
Mr Zacharia Ntate Mosothoane                                                                                     13 466                   250 13 716
Ms Masaccha Mbonambi4 85 411                2 500              87 911
Ms Ntombizine Mbiza                                                         223 923              16 830            240 753
Mr Jack Mazibuko4 5 399                1 500                6 899
Ms Hilda Thamaga Thopola                                                                                         192 086                3 000            195 086
Major  General (retired) Willem Venter                                                                        240 172              81 892            322 064
Mr Tibor Szana2                                                                                                                     -  -

1 751 516 215 453 1 966 969

1    Delegate from the National Department of Transport - not remunerated
2    Delegate from the National Department of Labour - not remunerated
3    Delegate from South African Police Service - not remunerated
4        Resigned
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2018
                                                                                                                               

Name  Emoluments    Allowance      Total

Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta (Chairperson) 301 155 6 638 307 793
Mr Boy Jones Nobunga (Deputy Chairperson) 83 521 39 518 123 039
Mr Christian Johan de Vos 195 785 20 610 216 395
Mr Andre Harrison 342 326 8 646 350 972
Mr Ngwako Makaepea1 - - -
Major General Michael Monash Motlhala3 - - -
Mr Zacharia Ntate Mosothoane 79 022 3 000 82 022
Ms Masaccha Mbonambi 90 873 11 469 102 342
Ms Ntombizine Mbiza 277 954 8 001 285 955
Mr Tibor Szana2 - - -
Ms Hilda Thamaga Thopola 128 400 3 000 131 400
Major-General (retired) Willem Venter 136 603 56 398 193 001

1 635 639 157 280 1 792 919

1    Delegate from the National Department of Transport - not remunerated
2    Delegate from the National Department of Labour - not remunerated
3    Delegated from South African Police Services - not remunerated
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Audit Committee

2019

Name Audit and risk 
committee
fee claim

 Cellphone and 
expenses

 claim

Total

Mr Ameen Amod (Independent Chairperson)1 153 709 2 500 156 209

Ms Desiree Nage (Independent Member)1 137 624 2 843 140 467

Ms Reshoketswe Ralebepa (Independent Member)1 87 571 2 500 90 071

Dr D Prittish (Independent Member)2 500 - 500

Mr Simphiwe Simelane (Independent Member)2 - - -

379 404 7 843 387 247

Refer to the governance section for the breakdown of the number of meetings attended. 
1 Contract ended in January 2019
2  New appointment after year-end

2018

Name Audit 
and risk 

committee
fee claim

 Cellphone and 
expenses

 claim

Total

Mr Ameen Amod (Independent Chairperson) 228 766 3 000 231 766

Ms Desiree Nage (Independent Member) 212 894 6 594 219 488

Ms Reshoketswe Ralebepa (Independent Member) 172 138 3 000 175 138

613 798 12 594 626 392
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23.   Change in accounting estimate

Property, plant and equipment
During the year, RSR cancelled its regional office leases on which leasehold improvements have been installed. The term of the 
lease  was for a period of five-years and depreciation on the leasehold improvements was initially estimated based on the five-year 
period. As from the date of the cancellation, the RSR entered into a temporary agreement with the landlord to occupy the offices 
until the RSR’s new offices become available for occupation from 1 July 2019. As a result, the expected useful life of the leasehold 
improvement was decreased to 12 months from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. The effect of the change on actual and expected 
depreciation expense in the current and future years is as follows:

Description 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22-23

Original estimate 5 278 250 5 594 739 5 594 739 4 360 163

Revised estimate (17 178 410) (3 649 481) - -

(11 900 160) 1 945 258 5 594 739 4 360 163

24.   Prior period errors

1.Overstatement of revenue
In the 2017/18 FY, invoices in the amount of R7 million were raised for penalties and R2 982 for permits. During the current financial 
year, it was noted that these invoices were incorrectly raised as the contraventions that led to these invoices had procedural defects. 
This resulted in overstatement of revenue for 2017/18. The invoice for permit fees was also reversed as it was raised in respect of an 
operator that was no longer operational. The correction of the errors were accounted for retrospectively.

2.Correction of debt impairment
In the 2017/18 FY, a provision for impairment to the amount of R5.6 million relating to the penalty fee invoices of R7 million was provided 
for. This provision was reversed as the related invoices were reversed due to procedural defects. This resulted in overstatement of 
expenses and understatement of debtors in the 2017/18 FY. The correction of these errors were accounted for retrospectively.

3. Understatement of depreciation
During the 2017/18 FY, depreciation on the items of property, plant and equipment was understated by R157 146 due to the useful 
life assessment. The correction of the error was accounted for retrospectively.

Statement of financial position

Account name Note As previously
reported

Correction of 
error

Restated

Trade debtors 3 19 212 367 (7 002 982) 12 209 385

Provision for debt impairment 3 (15 619 695) 5 600 000 (10 019 695)

Property, plant and equipment 5 26 821 580 (157 145) 26 664 435

30 414 252 (1 560 127) 28 854 125
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24.   Prior period errors (continued)

Statement of financial performance

Account name Note As previously
  reported

Correction of 
error

Restated

Revenue - safety permit fees 10 150 431 759 (2 982)   150 428 777

Revenue - penalties 12 271 333 (7 000 000) 5 271 333

Depreciation (11 362 674) (157 145) (11 519 819)

Debt impairment 16 (16 304 615) 5 600 000 (10 704 615)

135 035 803 (1 560 127) 133 475 676

Cash flow statement

2018                                                                               

Account name Note As previously
  reported

Correction of 
error

Restated

Cash flow from operating activities

Revenue: permits, penalties, technology, audit and technical 
workshops 180 517 079 653 061 181 170 140
Employee cost (166 894 212) 4 474 917 (162 419 295)

Suppliers (75 795 466) (5 322 544) (81 118 010)

Interest income 2 096 959 430 847 2 527 806

Other income received 236 283 (236 283) -

(59 839 357) (2) (59 839 359)

Cash flow from operating activities - Reconciliation note

Surplus (deficit) 530 725 (1 560 127) (1 029 402) 
Depreciation and amortisation 11 362 674 157 145 11 519 819
Proceeds from sale of assets - (87 117) (87 117)
Debts impairment 16 304 615 (16 304 615) -
Other non cash items (10 509 798) 10 509 798 -
Receivables (9 969 497) 18 142 936 8 173 439
Payables 11 098 485 (12 779 513) (1 681 028)
Prepayments (199 056) 199 056 -

18 618 148 (1 722 437) 16 895 711
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 25.     Risk management 

Financial risk management 

The RSR manages its net assets to ensure that it will be 
able to continue as a going concern, while meeting its overall 
objectives. Funding is obtained primarily from grants and the 
administration of permit fees. The strategy is consistent with 
that applied in prior years.

From its use of financial instruments, the RSR has exposure to 
the following risks: 

• Credit Risk

• Liquidity Risk

• Market Risk

This note presents information about the RSR’s exposure to 
each of the above risks. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout these financial statements. The Board has 
the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight 
of the RSR’s risk management framework. The Board has 
established the Audit and Risk Committee which is responsible 
for the oversight on the development and monitoring the RSR’s 
risk management policies.

RSR’s risk management policies are established to identify 
and analyse the risks faced by the RSR to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls and to monitor risk and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in the RSR’s activities. RSR through its 
training and management standards and procedures aims 
to develop a disciplined and effective control environment in 
which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
The Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management 
monitors compliance with RSR’s risk policies and procedures, 
and review the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risk faced by the RSR. The Audit and Risk 
Committee is assisted in its oversight role by the Internal Audit. 
The internal audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc financial 
reviews of controls in place to mitigate the risk which is reported 
to the Audit and Risk Committee.

Debtors are assessed at year-end for recoverability and 
the necessary provision for write-off will be raised if deemed 
material.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the RSR will encounter difficulty in 
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity 
risk is considered low as the current assets exceeded current 

liabilities as at 31 March 2019. The total current assets reported 
in the statement of financial position has already taken account 
of the provision for credit losses. Furthermore, all the open 
order commitments of the RSR as at 31 March 2019 were fully 
funded. Management monitors rolling forecast of the RSR’s 
cash and cash equivalents on the basis of the expected cash 
flows. The RSR engages with the rail operators on a continuous 
basis to ensure that it has the cash flows to meet the expected 
payments as they fall due.

Credit risk

The risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under 
financial instruments, leading to a financial loss. The RSR is 
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities, primarily for 
trade receivables. the RSR’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
as at 31 March 2019 was R6 791 363 (2018: R2 658 081).

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as 
interest rates, will affect the RSR’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The objectives of market risk 
management are to manage and control market risk exposure 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. The 
RSR is then exposed to one primary type of market risk namely, 
interest risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the 
market interest rate. The RSR’s exposure to the risk of changes 
in market rates are limited to cash and cash equivalents that 
have floating interest rates which is negligible for the RSR.

Cash and cash equivalent

The RSR only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality 
credit standing. RSR, therefore, does not consider there to be 
any significant exposure to credit risk.

The RSR utilised ABSA, for daily transactions which has a Baa2 
rating as well as the South African Reserve Bank for investment 
purposes

Financial assets and Liabilities

The RSR’s principle financial assets are accounts receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents. At 31 March 2019, the carrying 
amounts of cash, accounts receivables and accounts payables 
approximated their fair values, due to the short term maturities 
of these assets and liabilities. The net fair value of the assets 
and liabilities of the RSR are stated below:
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018                                                                                                                                                     

 Assets 

Receivables from exchange transactions   6 791 363 2 658 081
Cash and cash equivalents  42 653 407 10 326 446

49 444 770 12 984 527

 Liabilities 

Payables from exchange transactions     37 689 546 45 516 015
                                                                                     

26.     Going concern 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Going concern challenges have been reduced to an acceptable level as a result of the successful implementation of the Financial 
Recovery Plan and Management is confident that the support from the DoT will adequately mitigate any future going concern risks.                                                                                                                                 

27.  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Opening balance 9 639 902 612 801

Add fruitless and wasteful 985 9 496 983

Less amount recovered - (362 650)

Less amount written - off (916 505) (107 232)

8 724 382 9 639 902

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure breakdown

Interest on late payments to suppliers 985 17 306

Penalty on cancellation of contract - 118 387

Penalty on late payments to SARS - 780 812

Non-delivery of services paid for - 2 963 843

Legal services obtained which were not required - 153 321

Contract signed exclusive of VAT whereas the bid submitted was inclusive of VAT - 5 463 314

985 9 496 983
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

28.  Irregular expenditure

Opening balance1 14 769 004 2 679 467

Add: Irregular Expenditure identified in the current year relating to the prior year 1 140 671 2 713 331

Less amount condoned (3 644 689)  (2 628 387) 

Add irregular expenditure identified in the current year 1 022 006 12 004 593

13 286 992 14 769 004

1 The opening balance includes an amount of R11 281 142 which has been investigated and submitted to the National Treasury 
   for condonation.

  Details of irregular expenditure break down

Details of irregular expenditure - prior year Status Total

Non-compliance with contract variation legislation relating to IT and communication  services 1 1 071 880

Non-compliance with procurement legislation for the provision of legal services 2 68 791

1 140 671

1 Sent to National treasury for condonation
2 Receivable to be raised for recovery

Details of irregular expenditure - current  year Status            Total

Non - compliant with contract variation legislation relating to legal services 1 137 555

Non - compliant with contract variation legislation relating to venue hire 2 14 060

Non compliant with supply chain processes in sourcing services for travelling 3 239 966

Non compliant with supply chain processes in sourcing services for Professional fees 3 486 675

Non compliant with supply chain process relating to sourcing of furniture rental 3 143 750

1 022 006

     1 Sent to National treasury for condonation
2 To be investigated
3 Under investigation

     

  Details of irregular expenditure condoned   Status Total

Over expenditure of contract relating to HR services 1 51 080

Non-compliant with procurement policy relating to procurement of emergency response guide book 1 684

Non-compliant with delegation of authority for procurement of legal services 1 22 823

Over expenditure not approved in line with delegation of authority for job evaluations 1 14 250 

Over-expenditure not approved in line with delegation of authority for software licence fees 1 24 829

Approval of extension of fleet contract not obtained from the delegated authority 1 3 427 489

Expenditure incurred not in line with internal bursary policy 1 103 534

 3 644 689

1Condoned by the Board
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  Details of irregular expenditure condoned   Status Total

Over expenditure of contract relating to HR services 1 51 080

Non-compliant with procurement policy relating to procurement of emergency response guide book 1 684

Non-compliant with delegation of authority for procurement of legal services 1 22 823

Over expenditure not approved in line with delegation of authority for job evaluations 1 14 250 

Over-expenditure not approved in line with delegation of authority for software licence fees 1 24 829

Approval of extension of fleet contract not obtained from the delegated authority 1 3 427 489

Expenditure incurred not in line with internal bursary policy 1 103 534

 3 644 689

1Condoned by the Board
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Figures in Rand                                                                                                 2019 2018

29.  Professional fees

Internal audit 1 424 386 954 717

Regulations and governance 337 680 319 509

Board of enquiry 1 463 928 4 002 118

Business consultants 1 818 580 1 996 239

Risk management 37 725 2 636 160

Research 3 206 2 995 920

Board support 160 959 575 700

ICT support and improvement 69 837 559 241

Security system 341 261 402 589

HR training and development 3 177 929 3 520 025

Finance support 55 062 289 586

Legal fees 6 408 901 2 050 294

Forensic audit 148 894 976 679

 15 448 348 21 278 777
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34.  Budget differences 

Revenue Movements 
• Safety permit  fees - R3 911 010

The main contributor to the shortfall in permit fees 

was the reduction in permit fees for SADC operators 

which disputed their permit fees. The RSR and SADC 

operators reached a settlement agreement which 

saw CFM and Botswana rail permit fees reducing 

to R1 million (from R3.2 million) and R500 000 (R1.2 

million) respectively. Another contributing factor was  

the number of operators opting for a single permit.

• Interest received - R4 061 640

Large operators paid permit fees earlier than expected 

resulting in the organisation holding positive cash 

balances for longer. Another contributing factor was 

the cancellation of the regional office and vehicle lease 

contracts during the year which resulted in cost saving. 

As part of the cash flow strategies the RSR’s invests 

its surplus cash balances at the Corporation for Public 

Deposits which is held by South African Reserve Bank.

• Technical awareness workshops - R1 125 450

The shortfall in revenue was due to the lack of capacity 

resulting from the voluntary severance packages that 

took place during the year which saw the Standards and 

Regulations unit loosing its resources. The Standards 

and Regulations unit was also given an additional two 

APP targets during the second quarter which led to the 

reprioritisation of effects from the awareness workshops 

to the newly allocated targets.

• Technology audits - R10 571 450

The shortfall in revenue was due to disputes around 

this revenue line by the major operators. This matter 

was escalated to the Ministerial level which saw the 

National Department of Transport instructing the RSR 

to no longer charge for the technology audit services. 

As a result, the RSR has not included technology audit 

revenue in its 2019/20 budget until this matter is settled.

Other revenue from exchange transactions -  

R1 409 317

The RSR does not budget for variable revenue because 

there is no certainty that is will be raised. The reason 

for not budgeting for this type of revenue is that it 

is not certain that it would be raised. Therefore, the 

RSR is not willing to increase its expenditure for revenue 

that may not be collected.  The R1.4 million includes 

TETA income (R1.1 million) and recoveries.
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• Other revenue from exchange transactions -  

R394 106

The RSR does not budget for variable revenue because 

there is no certainty that it will be raised. The RSR, 

therefore, is not willing to increase its expenditure for 

revenue that may not be collected.

Expenditure movements

• Depreciation and amortisation - R23 278 849

The RSR does not budget for non-cash items.

• Loss on disposal of assets - R77 714

The RSR does not budget for non-cash items.

• Repairs and maintenance - R149 130

Fewer repairs were done than anticipated.

• Office rental - R5 255 461

This variance resulted from the reversal of operating 

lease liability on cancellation of the regional office lease 

contract. The cancellation was due to non-performance 

of the lessor.

• Bad debts written off - R7 876 794

The RSR does not budget for bad debts and debt 

impairment. This includes long outstanding debts and 

debt impairment reversal.

• General expenses - R11 270 535

This variance is as a result of purchase orders that were 

issued, however, the but services have not yet been 

delivered by year-end.

• Capital expenditure - R10 689 839

This variance is as a result of purchase orders that 

were issued, however, the goods have not yet been 

delivered by year-end and cost savings initiatives were  

implemented.

• Accruals 2017/18 - R15 912 320

This represents payments for 2017/18 FY and not 

expenses for 2018/19 FY.
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Board Qualifications

Names Qualifications
Dr Nomusa Zethu Qunta PhD (WITS), MBA (University of Oxford Brookes), MCom (UP), BCom Hons (UP),  

B Admin (UNIZULU), Certificate: Public Sector Corporate Governance (UNISA) 

Mr Boy Johannes Nobunga BCom Hons (UWC), Advanced Diploma: Economic Policy (UWC), Diploma: Public 
Relations (IAC), Certificate: Economics and Public Finance (UNISA) 

Ms Tshepo Kgare Post Graduate Diploma in Traffic and Transportation (Nottingham Trent University, 
UK), Diploma in Road Safety (Lund University, Sweden), NDip: Civil Engineering (Vaal 
Triangle Technikon), Certificate: Risk Management (UCT)

Ms Ntombizine Mbiza LLB (University of Middelsex, UK), BA: International Relations (UNISA)

Mr Andre Harrison MBA (UCT), Bachelor of Philosophy: Knowledge Management (Stellenbosch),  NDip 
for Technicians (CPUT), Certificate: Logistics Management (UP)   

Major-General (RET)  
Willem Venter (SOEG)

Masters in Public Administration (UP - cum laude), B Law (UNISA - cum laude), BProc 
(UNISA - cum laude), NDip: Police Administration, NH Cert: Police Administration,    
Member of Golden Key International Honour Society, Executive Public Management 
Development Programme (UP - cum laude), Certificate in Public Relations (PRISA - 
with distinction)

Mr Tibor Szana NH Dip: Mechanical Engineering (CPUT), Executive Development Programme 
(PALAMA)

Major-General Monash 
Michael Motlhala

BTech: Policing (TUT), NDip: Policing (UNISA), NDip: Police Administration (TUT)

Mr Christiaan Johan de Vos Adv Dip: Labour Law (UJ), Dip: Conciliation and Mediation (CCMA), Cert: Labour 
Relations (UP), Cert: Labour Relations for Trade Union Officials (UP)  

Ms Hilda Thamaga Thopola Masters: Pubic Health in Occupational Hygiene (WITS), HDip: Environmental 
Health (TUT), HDip: Occupational Health and Safety Management (POTCH), Dip: 
Environmental Health, Cert: Environmental Law, Total Quality Management (UNISA),  
Senior Management Development in Business Administration (USB)

Mr Jan-David de Villiers BA (Potchefstroom University), BCom (UP)

Mr Hulisani Murovhi Masters: Public Development and Management (WITS), BProc (UWC), HDip Tax (UJ), 
Dip Corporate Law (UJ), ICSA Programme in Strategic Management and Corporate 
Governance (UNISA), Certificate Programme in Compliance Management (UJ), 
Admitted Attorney 
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